

Quadernon.23

An introduction to Poisson processes and their generalizations

Enzo Orsingher, Riccardo Cesari, Vieri Mosco



February 2022



(decree-law no. 95 of 6 July 2012, converted into law no. 135 of 7 August 2012)

The "Working Papers" series is aimed at enhancing the dissemination of studies and original contributions on insurance issues and stimulate critical comments and suggestions.

The opinions expressed during the works are attributable to the authors alone and do not bind their respective institutions in any manner.

via del Quirinale 21- 00187 ROMA telephone +39 06 42133.1

All rights reserved.

Reproduction for educational and non-commercial purposes is permitted,

provided that the source is acknowledged

The series is available on-line at www.ivass.it

ISSN 2421-4671 (online}

An Introduction to Poisson processes and their generalisations

Enzo Orsingher¹, Riccardo Cesari² and Vieri Mosco³

 $^{^{1}\}mathrm{Emeritus}$ Professor at La Sapienza University of Rome

 $^{^2{\}rm IVASS}$ - Istituto per la Vigilanza sulle Assicurazioni and University of Bologna $^3{\rm IVASS}$ - Istituto per la Vigilanza sulle Assicurazioni

Contents

1	Poisson processes	1
	1.1 The homogeneous Poisson process	1
	1.1.1 Properties of the homogeneous Poisson process	4
	1.1.2 Alternative definitions of the Poisson process	8
	1.2 The weighted Poisson process of order i	9
	1.3 Skellam process: the difference between two Poisson processes	11
	1.4 The non-homogeneous Poisson process	13
	1.5 Compound Poisson processes	14
	1.6 Poisson random fields	17
	1.7 The integral of an homogeneous Poisson process	19
	18 Iterated Poisson: composition of two independent Poisson processes	21
		-1
2	Birth processes	24
	2.1 The nonlinear case	24
	2.2 Linear case (Yule-Furry)	28
		-
3	Death processes	32
	3.1 The nonlinear case	32
	3.2 The linear case	34
	3.3 The sublinear case	35
4	The birth-death process	37
	4.1 The nonlinear case	37
	4.2 The linear case	38
	4.3 The extinction probability and the Riccati equation	40
5	Fractional extensions of the Poisson process	43
	5.1 The space-fractional Poisson process: standard case	43
	5.1.1 Properties of the space-fractional Poisson process	44
	5.2 Generalized space-fractional Poisson processes	48
	5.3 Another fractional generalization of the Poisson process	51
	5.4 The time-fractional Poisson process	53
	5.5 The space-time fractional Poisson process	56
A	opendices	59
Α	Probability generating functions.	59
в	Stable random variables and stable subordinators	61
Б	D 1 Stable random variables	61
		01
	D.2 Stable subordinators	02
С	Fractional derivatives.	64
-		51
Re	References	

Chapter 1

Poisson processes

1.1 The homogeneous Poisson process

An homogeneous Poisson process N(t) = N((0, t]) = N(0, t], t > 0, is a continuous-time stochastic process taking integer values representing the number of events happening over a *finite* time interval (0, t]. Its probabilistic evolution is governed by the following rules:

Definition 1.

- 1. $\Pr\{N(0) = 0\} = 1;$
- 2. $\Pr\{N(t, t + dt] = 1\} = \lambda dt + o(dt), \text{ con } \lambda > 0;$
- 3. $\Pr\{N(t, t + dt] = 0\} = 1 \lambda dt + o(dt);$
- 4. $\Pr\{N(t, t + dt] > 1\} = o(dt);$
- 5. If $0 = t_0 < t_1 < \ldots < t_n < t$, the random variables $N(t_{j-1}, t_j] = N(t_j) N(t_{j-1}), 1 \le j \le n$, are independent, i.e., the process has independent increments.

where N(s,t] is the number of events in (s,t] with s < t. Homogeneity means that the "intensity" or "rate" λ (i.e. number of events per unit time) is constant. Note, in particular, that N(t) - N(s) is independent of N(s) - N(0) = N(s).

The Poisson process describes the realisation of a flow of rare events. It is applied to a wide range of phenomena such as the arrival of customers in a bank agency, floods, earthquakes, car clashes, the number of particles emitted by a radioactive source, and so on (cf. Fig. 1.1).

From the previous assumptions we can extract several probabilistic information.

Theorem 1.1: The state probabilities $p_k(t) \equiv \Pr\{N(t) = k\}, k \ge 0, t \ge 0$, satisfy the following difference-differential equations:

$$\frac{d}{dt}p_k(t) = -\lambda p_k(t) + \lambda p_{k-1}(t), \qquad k \ge 0, t > 0$$

$$(1.1)$$

with initial conditions

$$p_k(0) = \begin{cases} 1 & k = 0, \\ 0 & k > 0, \end{cases}$$
(1.2)

Clearly $\forall t \quad p_{-1}(t) = 0$. In order to derive the equations (1.1)-(1.2), we write

$$p_{k}(t+dt) = \Pr\{N(t+dt] = k\}$$

$$= \Pr\{(N(t) = k, N(t, t+dt] = 0) \cup (N(t) = k-1, N(t, t+dt] = 1)$$

$$\bigcup_{j=2}^{k} (N(t) = k - j, N(t, t+dt] = j)\}$$

$$= \Pr\{N(t) = k, N(t, t+dt] = 0\} + \Pr\{N(t) = k - 1, N(t, t+dt] = 1\}$$

$$+ \sum_{j=2}^{k} \Pr\{N(t) = k - j, N(t, t+dt] = j\}$$

$$= p_{k}(t)(1 - \lambda dt) + p_{k-1}(t)\lambda dt + o(dt)$$
(1.3)

From (1.3), equation (1.1) immediately emerges.

We used the additive property of probability and properties 2, 3, 4 above.

Theorem 1.2: The distribution of the homogeneous Poisson process is given by

$$p_k(t) = \Pr\{N(t) = k \mid N(0) = 0\} = e^{-\lambda t} \frac{(\lambda t)^k}{k!}, \qquad k \ge 0, \ t > 0$$
(1.4)

The simplest method to obtain (1.4) is the technique based on the probability generating function (for the p.g.f. see Appendix A)

$$G(u,t) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} u^k p_k(t), \qquad t \ge 0, \ |u| \le 1.$$
(1.5)

From (1.1) we can write

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\partial p_k(t)}{\partial t} u^k = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (-\lambda p_k(t) + \lambda p_{k-1}(t)) u^k$$
$$= -\lambda G(u, t) + \lambda \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} p_{k-1}(t) u^k$$
$$= -\lambda G(u, t) + \lambda \sum_{h=0}^{\infty} p_h(t) u^{h+1}$$
$$= -\lambda G(u, t) + \lambda u G(u, t) = \lambda (u - 1) G(u, t)$$
(1.6)

thus obtaining the Cauchy problem:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}G(u,t) = \lambda(u-1)G(u,t)\\ G(u,0) = 1. \end{cases}$$
(1.7)

The general solution of (1.7) is given by

$$G(u,t) = ke^{\lambda t(u-1)},\tag{1.8}$$

and since

$$G(u,0) = 1$$
 (1.9)

we obtain that

$$G(u,t) = e^{\lambda t(u-1)} = e^{-\lambda t} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(\lambda t)^k}{k!} u^k, \qquad t > 0, |u| \le 1.$$
(1.10)

Comparing (1.5) and (1.10) we extract the distribution (1.4).

(

Remark 1.1. The Poisson distribution from the Binomial It is possible to obtain the Poisson distribution as a "special case" of the Binomial distribution when $n \to \infty$, $p_n \to 0$ and $np_n = \lambda$ Indeed, being $p_n = \frac{\lambda}{n}$ $\lim_{\substack{n \to \infty \\ p_n \to 0}} {n \choose k} p_n^k (1 - p_n)^{n-k} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{n(n-1)\dots(n-k+1)}{k!} (\frac{\lambda}{n})^k (1 - \frac{\lambda}{n})^{n-k}$ $= \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{n^k + O(n^{k-1})}{k!} (\frac{\lambda}{n})^k (1 - \frac{\lambda}{n})^{n-k}$ $= \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\lambda^k}{k!} \frac{(1 - \frac{\lambda}{n})^n}{(1 - \frac{\lambda}{n})^k} = \frac{\lambda^k}{k!} e^{-\lambda}$

Remark 1.2. Note that the *standard* Poisson process is a continuous-time, discrete-space process with independent increments such that N(0) = 0 a.s.

$$\Pr\{N(t) - N(s) = k\} \sim e^{-\lambda(t-s)} \frac{\lambda^k (t-s)^k}{k!} \qquad k = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$

Theorem 1.3: An alternative method is to resolve the equations (1.1) recursively. The solution of

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d}{dt}p_0(t) = -\lambda p_0(t), \\ p_0(0) = 1, \end{cases}$$
(1.11)

is $p_0(t) = e^{-\lambda t}$ with t > 0. If we suppose that

$$p_{k-1}(t) = e^{-\lambda t} \frac{(\lambda t)^{k-1}}{(k-1)!}, \quad k \ge 1$$
 (1.12)

we obtain the following non-homogeneous linear equation

$$\frac{d}{dt}p_k(t) = -\lambda p_k(t) + \lambda e^{-\lambda t} \frac{(\lambda t)^{k-1}}{(k-1)!}$$
(1.13)

with the initial condition $p_k(0) = 0$ for k > 0. The equation (1.13) has the form

$$y' + \alpha(x)y = \beta(x) \tag{1.14}$$

and its general solution reads

$$y(x) = e^{-\int_0^x \alpha(z)dz} \left\{ \int_0^x \beta(z)e^{\int_0^z \alpha(w)dw} + \text{const} \right\}.$$
(1.15)

So, after some calculation we have that

$$p_k(t) = e^{-\lambda t} \left\{ \lambda \int_0^t e^{\lambda s} e^{-\lambda s} \frac{(\lambda s)^{k-1}}{(k-1)!} ds + \text{const} \right\}$$

= $e^{-\lambda t} \left\{ \frac{(\lambda t)^k}{k!} + \text{const} \right\} = e^{-\lambda t} \frac{(\lambda t)^k}{k!},$ (1.16)

where the initial condition is $p_k(0) = 0, k \ge 1$, has been taken into account.

1.1.1 Properties of the homogeneous Poisson process

(i) Under the condition that N(t) = n, the distribution of the instants of occurrence of the *n* events T_1, \dots, T_n is

$$\Pr\{T_1 \in dt_1, \cdots, T_n \in dt_n \mid N(t) = n\} = \frac{n!}{t^n} dt_1 \cdots dt_n, \quad \text{with } 0 < t_1 < t_2 < \cdots < t_n < t$$
(1.17)

Proof. From property 5 and formula (1.4) we have that

$$Pr\{T_{1} \in dt_{1}, \cdots, T_{n} \in dt_{n} \mid N(t) = n\} = \frac{Pr\{T_{1} \in dt_{1}, \cdots, T_{n} \in dt_{n}, N(t) = n\}}{Pr\{N(t) = n\}}$$

$$= \frac{Pr\{N(0, t_{1}] = 0, N(t_{1}, t_{1} + dt_{1}] = 1, \cdots, N(t_{n-1}, t_{n}] = 0, N(t_{n}, t_{n} + dt_{n}] = 1, N(t_{n} + dt_{n}, t] = 0\}}{Pr\{N(t) = n\}}$$

$$= \frac{e^{-\lambda t_{1}}}{e^{-\lambda t_{1}}} \underbrace{\lambda dt_{1}}_{\text{no jumps jump}} \cdots \underbrace{e^{-\lambda(t_{n} - t_{n-1})}}_{\text{no jumps}} \underbrace{\lambda dt_{n}}_{\text{no jumps}} e^{-\lambda(t - t_{n})}}_{\frac{(\lambda t)^{n}}{n!}e^{-\lambda t}} = n! \frac{dt_{1} \cdots dt_{n}}{t^{n}}$$

$$(1.18)$$

To explain the intermediate step of (1.18), the following picture can be useful:

$$\overbrace{\begin{array}{c} 0 \text{ events } 1 \text{ event} \\ \hline 0 & t_1 & t_1 + dt_1 \end{array}}^{\begin{array}{c} 1 \text{ event}} \overbrace{\begin{array}{c} 1 \text{ event} \\ \hline 1 \text{$$

Note that if N(t) = 1, we have that

$$\Pr\left\{T_1 \in dt_1 \mid N(t) = 1\right\} = \frac{dt_1}{t}, \qquad 0 < t_1 < t.$$
(1.19)

and thus T_1 is uniformly distributed in (0, t).

Note that $\Pr\{T_1 > t\} = \Pr\{N(t) = 0\} = p_0(t) = e^{-\lambda t}$ and it is called the "survival probability". (ii) The mean and variance of the Poisson process are¹

$$\begin{cases} \mathbb{E}[N(t)] = \lambda t \\ \mathbb{V}ar[N(t)] = \lambda t \end{cases}$$
(1.20)

In fact

$$\mathbb{E}[N(t)] = \sum_{h=0}^{\infty} h e^{-\lambda t} \frac{(\lambda t)^h}{h!} = \sum_{h=1}^{\infty} h e^{-\lambda t} \frac{(\lambda t)^h}{h!} = e^{-\lambda t} \sum_{h=1}^{\infty} \frac{(\lambda t)^h}{(h-1)!}$$

$$= e^{-\lambda t} \lambda t \sum_{h=1}^{\infty} \frac{(\lambda t)^{h-1}}{(h-1)!} = e^{-\lambda t} \lambda t \sum_{r=0}^{\infty} \frac{(\lambda t)^r}{r!} = e^{-\lambda t} \lambda t e^{\lambda t} = \lambda t$$
(1.21)

and

$$\mathbb{E}[N(t)^2] = \sum_{h=0}^{\infty} h^2 e^{-\lambda t} \frac{(\lambda t)^h}{h!} = e^{-\lambda t} \sum_{h=1}^{\infty} h \frac{(\lambda t)^h}{(h-1)!} = e^{-\lambda t} \lambda t \sum_{r=0}^{\infty} (r+1) \frac{(\lambda t)^r}{r!}$$
$$= e^{-\lambda t} \lambda t \left[\sum_{r=0}^{\infty} r \frac{(\lambda t)^r}{r!} + e^{\lambda t} \right] = e^{-\lambda t} \lambda t \left[e^{\lambda t} \sum_{r=0}^{\infty} r e^{-\lambda t} \frac{(\lambda t)^r}{r!} + e^{\lambda t} \right] = e^{-\lambda t} \lambda t \left[e^{\lambda t} \lambda t + e^{\lambda t} \right]$$
$$= \lambda t (\lambda t + 1),$$
(1.22)

hence

$$\mathbb{V}ar[N(t)] = (\lambda t)^2 + \lambda t - (\lambda t)^2 = \lambda t$$
(1.23)

(iii) The covariance is for s < t

$$\mathbb{C}ov[N(s), N(t)] = \mathbb{E}[N(s)N(t)] - \mathbb{E}[N(s)]\mathbb{E}[N(t)]$$

$$= \mathbb{E}[N(s)(N(t) - N(s) + N(s))] - \mathbb{E}[N(s)\mathbb{E}[N(t)]]$$

$$= \mathbb{E}[N^{2}(s)] + \mathbb{E}[N(s)(N(t) - N(s))] - \mathbb{E}[N(s)]\mathbb{E}[N(t)]$$

$$= \lambda s + \lambda^{2}s^{2} + \lambda s\lambda(t - s) - \lambda s\lambda t$$

$$= \lambda s = \lambda(s \wedge t)$$

(1.24)

(iv) The first-passage time at level k is

$$T_k = \inf\{s : N(s) = k\}$$
(1.25)

with distribution

$$\Pr\{T_k \in ds\} = \Pr\{N(s) = k - 1, N(s, s + ds] = 1\} = e^{-\lambda s} \frac{(\lambda s)^{k-1}}{(k-1)!} \lambda ds$$
$$= \frac{\lambda^k}{\Gamma(k)} e^{-\lambda} s^{k-1} ds$$
(1.26)

¹Often empirical counting data, viceversa, exhibit significant *overdispersion* (possibily, *underdispersion*), i.e. an index of dispersion $D = \frac{\sigma^2}{\mu} > 1$ (D < 1): in this case the fit to a parametric model is improved by the adoption of so called *overdispersed* (*underdispersed*) distributions, i.e. distributions such that the variance exceeds (is lower than) the mean.

and

$$\Pr\{T_k < \infty\} = \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda s} \frac{(\lambda s)^{k-1}}{(k-1)!} \lambda ds = \frac{\lambda^k}{(k-1)!} \int_0^\infty s^{k-1} e^{-\lambda s} ds$$
$$= \text{ using the change of variable } w = \lambda s$$
$$= \frac{\lambda^k}{(k-1)!} \int_0^\infty (\frac{w}{\lambda})^{k-1} e^{-w} \frac{dw}{\lambda} = \frac{1}{(k-1)!} \int_0^\infty w^{k-1} e^{-w} dw = \frac{1}{(k-1)!} \Gamma(k)$$
$$= 1.$$

This means that the Poisson process reaches any level k in finite time.

(v) The Poisson process N(t) has stationary increments in the sense that the distribution of N(t) - N(s), t > s > 0 depends only on (t - s)

$$Pr\{N(t) - N(s) = k\} = e^{-\lambda(t-s)} \frac{\lambda^k (t-s)^k}{k!}$$
(1.28)

Proof.

$$\Pr\{N(t) = k\} = e^{-\lambda t} \frac{(\lambda t)^{k}}{k!}$$

= $\Pr\{N(t) - N(s) + N(s) = k\} = \sum_{h=0}^{k} \Pr\{N(t) - N(s) = k - h, N(s) = h\}$
= (by independence of the increments) $\sum_{h=0}^{k} \Pr\{N(t) - N(s) = k - h\} \Pr\{N(s) = h\}$
= $\sum_{h=0}^{k} e^{-\lambda s} \frac{(\lambda s)^{h}}{h!} \Pr\{N(t) - N(s) = k - h\}$ (1.29)

and the unique solution of the previous equation is (1.28). In fact

$$\sum_{h=0}^{k} e^{-\lambda s} \frac{(\lambda s)^{h}}{h!} e^{-\lambda(t-s)} \frac{\lambda^{k-h}(t-s)^{k-h}}{(k-h)!} = e^{-\lambda t} \frac{\lambda^{k}}{k!} \sum_{h=0}^{k} k! \frac{s^{h}(t-s)^{k-h}}{h!(k-h)!}$$

$$= e^{-\lambda t} \frac{\lambda^{k}}{k!} [s+t-s]^{k} = e^{-\lambda t} \frac{(\lambda t)^{k}}{k!}$$
(1.30)

(vi) The following property relates the Poisson process with the binomial distribution

$$\Pr\{N(0,s] = r \mid N(0,t] = k\} = {\binom{k}{r}} {\left(\frac{s}{t}\right)^r} {\left(1 - \frac{s}{t}\right)^{k-r}} \qquad 0 \le r \le k, \ 0 < s < t \qquad (1.31)$$

By taking into account the independence and the homogeneity of the increments of N(t)

(property 5), we can write

$$\Pr\{N(0,s] = r \mid N(0,t] = k\} = \frac{\Pr\{N(0,s] = r, N(0,t] = k\}}{\Pr\{N(0,t] = k\}}$$
$$= \frac{\Pr\{N(0,s] = r, N(s,t] = k - r\}}{\Pr\{N(0,t] = k\}} = \frac{\Pr\{N(0,s] = r\}\Pr\{N(s,t] = k - r\}}{\Pr\{N(0,t] = k\}}$$
$$= \frac{\frac{e^{-\lambda s} \frac{(\lambda s)^r}{r!} e^{-\lambda (t-s)} \frac{[\lambda (t-s)]^{k-r}}{(k-r)!}}{e^{-\lambda t} \frac{(\lambda t)^k}{k!}}$$
(1.32)

From (1.32), result (1.31) immediately follows.



Figure 1.1: Some homogeneous Poisson paths for $\lambda = 1$, $\lambda = 0.5$ and $\lambda = 0.1$.

(vii) By independence, the distribution of the sum of n independent Poisson r.v.'s is obtained by the product of the p.g.f., which in the case of the Poisson distribution is $G_{\text{Poi}(\lambda)}(u) = e^{\lambda(u-1)}$. Therefore given n Poisson r.v.'s $X_1, ..., X_n$ with parameters $\lambda_1, \lambda_2, ..., \lambda_n$, the p.g.f. of the sum $Y = X_1 + X_2 + ... + X_n$ is

$$G_Y(u) = \prod_{i=1}^n G_{X_i}(u) = \prod_{i=1}^n e^{\lambda_i(u-1)} = e^{\sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i(u-1)} = e^{\Lambda(u-1)}$$
(1.33)

where $\Lambda = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i$.

The sum of *n* Poisson r..v.'s is Poisson with parameter $\Lambda = \lambda_1 + \lambda_2 + ... + \lambda_n$ equal to the sum of the single parameters.

1.1.2 Alternative definitions of the Poisson process

An alternative, equivalent definition of the homogeneous Poisson process is the following

Definition 2

- 1*. $Pr\{N(0) = 0\} = 1$
- 2*. $Pr\{N(t) = k\} = e^{-\lambda t} \frac{(\lambda t)^k}{k!}$
- 3^{*}. The process has stationary, independent increments.

It is equivalent to **Definition 1** because:

$$Pr\{N(t, t + dt] = 0\} = Pr\{N(t + dt) - N(t) = 0\}$$

$$= e^{-\lambda t} \frac{(\lambda dt)^0}{0!} = e^{-\lambda t} = 1 - \lambda dt + o(dt)$$

$$Pr\{N(t, t + dt] = 1\} = e^{-\lambda dt} \frac{(\lambda dt)^1}{1!} = \lambda dt e^{-\lambda dt}$$

$$= \lambda dt(1 - \lambda dt + o(dt)) = \lambda dt + o(dt)$$
(1.34)

A third equivalent definition makes use of the concept of interarrival times. Let T_k be the time of the k-th event $(T_0 = 0)$. We define the n-th interarrival time τ_n as

$$\tau_n \equiv T_n - T_{n-1} \tag{1.35}$$

so that $\tau_1 = T_1$ and $T_n = \sum_{k=1}^n \tau_k$. Definition 3.

- 1^{**} . $Pr\{N(0) = 0\} = 1$
- 2^{**} . The interarrival times τ_n are i.i.d.
- 3**. They have exponential distribution, i.e. $Pr\{\tau_n \leq t\} = 1 e^{-\lambda t} \quad \forall n$

Note the no-memory property of the exponential distribution.

$$Pr\{\tau > t + s \mid \tau > s\} = \frac{Pr\{\tau > t + s, \tau > s\}}{Pr\{\tau > s\}} = \frac{Pr\{\tau > t + s\}}{Pr\{\tau > s\}} = \frac{e^{-\lambda(t+s)}}{e^{-\lambda s}} = e^{-\lambda t} = Pr\{\tau > t\}.$$
(1.36)

Remark 1.4. Assuming a distribution different from the exponential we obtain a generalised process called renewal process.

From **Definition 3** we have **Definition 1**

$$Pr\{N(t, t + dt] = 1\} = Pr\{\tau \le t + dt \mid \tau > t\}$$

= $Pr\{\tau \le dt\} = 1 - e^{-\lambda dt} = \lambda dt + o(dt)$
 $Pr\{N(t, t + dt] = 0\} = Pr\{\tau > t + dt \mid \tau > t\} = Pr\{\tau > dt\}$
= $e^{-\lambda dt} = 1 - \lambda dt + o(dt)$ (1.37)

1.2 The weighted Poisson process of order *i*

The Poisson process of order i, $N^{(i)}$, was introduced in 1984 and 1986 papers [5], [19]. The Poisson process of order i is also defined as a *weighted* sum of independent Poisson processes, i.e.

$$N^{(i)}(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{i} j N_j(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{i} \sum_{h=j}^{i} N_h(t).$$
(1.38)

where the processes $N_j(t)$ are i.i.d. Poisson processes, each weighted by j, and the process represents a flow of grouped events where arrivals are "grouped in packages".

The process (1.38) is also studied in [11].

Note that the processes are often assumed identically distributed, i.e. the arrival rate λ is unique. The process can represent situations of multiple claims arrival or collective risks, possibly with heterogeneous (and decreasing) arrival rates $\lambda_1 > \lambda_2 > ... > \lambda_i$.

Its probability generating function derives from a representation (cf. [6]) of the process as a compound Poisson process with discrete-Uniform compounding distribution, i.e. $N^{(i)}(t) = X_1 + X_2 + \dots + X_{N_{i\lambda}}(t)$, where $N_{i\lambda}(t)$ is a Poisson process of rate $i\lambda$, and X_h are Uniform r.v.'s over the set of the first *i* integers.²

Hence, it is obtained as

$$G^{(i)}(u,t) = \mathbb{E}\left[u^{N^{(i)(t)}}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[u^{\sum_{h=0}^{N_{i\lambda}(t)} X_{h}}\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{E}\left[u^{\sum_{h=0}^{N_{i\lambda}(t)}} | N_{i\lambda}(t) \right]\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{E}\left(u^{X_{h}}\right)^{N_{i\lambda}(t)}\right]$$
$$= \sum_{h=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}\left[u^{X_{h}}\right]^{h} \cdot e^{-i\lambda t} \frac{(i\lambda t)^{h}}{h!} = e^{-i\lambda t} e^{i\lambda t \cdot \mathbb{E}u^{X}}$$
$$= e^{-i\lambda t(1-\psi_{X}(u))}$$
$$(1.39)$$

where the p.g.f. of the discrete-Uniform is $\psi_X(u) = \frac{u}{i} \frac{1-u^i}{1-u}^3$. An explicit expression of the state probabilities can be found by the coefficients of the p.g.f. (cf. [10] for its expression for k > i)

$$\begin{cases} p_0^{(i)}(t) = e^{-i\lambda t} \\ p_k^{(i)}(t) = e^{-i\lambda t} \sum_{h=1}^k {k-1 \choose h-1} \frac{(\lambda t)^h}{h!} & k = 1, 2, ..., i \end{cases}$$
(1.40)

One can note that the maximum number of events for a given i over an interval dt corresponds to

$$\begin{cases} p_1^{(i)}(t) = \lambda t p_0^{(i)}(t) \\ p_k^{(i)}(t) = (2 + \frac{\lambda t - 2}{k}) p_{k-1}^{(i)}(t) - (1 - \frac{2}{k}) p_{k-2}^{(i)}(t) & k = 2, 3, \dots, i \\ p_k^{(i)}(t) = (2 + \frac{\lambda t - 2}{k}) p_{k-1}^{(i)}(t) - (1 - \frac{2}{k}) p_{k-2}^{(i)}(t) - \frac{i + 1}{k} \lambda t p_{k-i-1} + \frac{i}{k} \lambda t p_{k-i-2} & k \ge i + 1 \end{cases}$$

where, as above, $p_0^{(i)}(t) = e^{-i\lambda t}$.

³The p.g.f. of the discrete-Uniform r.v.'s X_h , given that the probability mass function of the discrete-Uniform distribution over the set of the first *i* integers is $\frac{1}{i}$, is obtained as $\mathbb{E}[u^{X_h}] = \sum_{k=1}^{i} u^k \frac{1}{i} = \frac{u}{i} \frac{1-u^i}{1-u}$.

²Exploiting the discrete type distribution of the compound Poisson-discrete-Uniform representation, [10] provides a Panjer-type recursion of the probability mass function:

the sum of the first *i* integers, i.e. the maximal jump size is $\frac{i(i+1)}{2}$, which can be substantially larger than 1.

Its mean and variance (cf. Fig. 1.2 and Fig. 1.3 resp.) follow the expression for the sum of the first i integers, namely

$$\begin{cases} \mathbb{E}[N^{(i)}(t)] = \lambda t \sum_{j=1}^{i} j = \frac{i(i+1)}{2} \lambda t \\ \mathbb{V}[N^{(i)}(t)] = \lambda t \sum_{j=1}^{i} j^2 = \frac{i(i+1)(2i+1)}{6} \lambda t \end{cases}$$
(1.41)



Figure 1.2: Mean of the weighted Poisson process w.r.t. the process index i (t = 1).

The process is overdispersed, that is the ratio of variance over the mean, also known as Fisher index is greater than one, i.e. $FI = 1 + \frac{2}{3}(i-1) > 1$, which in turn increases with the order *i* of the process.

A second representation is described in [6], where the process is represented as a pure-birth representation of the weighted Poisson process, where

$$\begin{cases} \Pr\{N^{(i)}(t+dt) = h+k | N^{(i)}(t) = h\} = \lambda dt + o(dt) & k = 1, 2, ..., i \text{ (multiple jumps)} \\ \Pr\{N^{(i)}(t+dt) = h+k | N^{(i)}(t) = h\} = 1 - i\lambda dt + o(dt) & i = 0 \end{cases}$$
(1.42)

and implicitly, for jumps of amplitude greater than i, $\Pr\{N^{(i)}(dt) \ge i+1\} \sim o(dt)$. Alternatively, a more compact notation is (see [11])

$$\begin{cases} \Pr\{dN^{(i)}(t) = h\} = \lambda dt & 1 \le h \le i \\ \Pr\{dN^{(i)}(t) = 0\} = 1 - i\lambda dt \end{cases}$$
(1.43)



Figure 1.3: Variance of the weighted Poisson process w.r.t. the process index $i \ (t = 1)$.

1.3 Skellam process: the difference between two Poisson processes

The process obtained as the difference of two Poisson processes was studied first in 1946, by Skellam. It is defined as $S(t) = N_1(t) - N_2(t)$, where $N_1(t)$, $N_2(t)$ are independent Poisson processes, t > 0, with rates $\lambda_1 > 0$, $\lambda_2 > 0$, and take integer values (i.e., both positive or negative). Jumps have unitary size (for a Skellam process with multiple, "simultaneous" jumps of arbitrary size). The probability mass function of S(t) turns out to be of the form

$$p_k(t) \equiv \Pr\{S(t) = k\} = e^{-(\lambda_1 + \lambda_2)t} (\frac{\lambda_1}{\lambda_2})^{\frac{k}{2}} I_{|k|} (2\sqrt{\lambda_1\lambda_2}t), \quad k \in \mathbb{Z} \equiv \{0, \pm 1, \pm 2, \pm 3, ...\}$$
(1.44)

where $I_k(x)$ is the modified Bessel function of the first kind, defined as $I_k(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(\frac{x}{2})^{2n+k}}{n!\Gamma(n+k+1)}$ (cf. Fig. 1.4) .Of course, if $\lambda_1 = \lambda_2 = \lambda$ the distribution $\{p_k, k \ge 0\}$ is symmetric and reads $p_k(t) = e^{-2\lambda t}I_{|k|}(2\lambda t)$; positive (negative) skewness corresponds to respectively $\lambda_1 > \lambda_2$ ($\lambda_1 < \lambda_2$). The mean, variance, covariance and p.g.f. of the distribution are respectively

$$\begin{cases} \mathbb{E}[S(t)] = (\lambda_1 - \lambda_2)t, \\ \mathbb{V}ar[S(t)] = (\lambda_1 + \lambda_2)t, \\ \mathbb{C}ov(S(t), S(s)) = (\lambda_1 + \lambda_2)\min(s, t), \\ G_S(u) = G_{N_1(u)}(u)G_{N_2}(\frac{1}{u}) \end{cases}$$
(1.45)

Note that the process is oversdispersed.

Theorem 1.4: By the linearity of the differential operator, the state transition law is governed



Figure 1.4: Probability mass functions of the Skellam process with symmetry ($\lambda_1 = \lambda_2 = 1$) w.r.t. (t = 1).

by the differential equation

$$\frac{d}{dt}p_k(t) \equiv -(\lambda_1 p_k(t) - \lambda_1 p_{k-1}(t)) + (\lambda_2 p_{k+1}(t) - \lambda_2 p_k(t))$$
(1.46)

with initial conditions $p_0(0) = 1$, $p_k(0) = 0$.

Proof. During an infinitesimal interval of time of length dt the state probability $p_k(t)$ satisfies the following relationship, i.e.

$$Pr\{S(t+dt) = k\} \equiv p_{k}(t+dt)$$

= $p_{k}(t)(1-\lambda_{1}dt)(1-\lambda_{2}dt) + p_{k-1}(t)\lambda_{1}dt(1-\lambda_{2}dt) + p_{k+1}(t)(1-\lambda_{1}dt)\lambda_{2}dt$ (1.47)
= $p_{k}(t) - p_{k}(t)\lambda_{1}dt - p_{k}(t)\lambda_{2}dt + p_{k-1}(t)\lambda_{1}dt + p_{k+1}(t)\lambda_{2}dt$

and after rearranging terms and taking the limit for $dt \rightarrow 0$ the equation

$$\frac{d}{dt}p_{k}(t) = -p_{k}(t)(\lambda_{1} + \lambda_{2}) + \lambda_{1}p_{k-1}(t) + \lambda_{2}p_{k+1}(t)$$
(1.48)

is obtained.

The sample paths of the Skellam process have unitary upwards and downwards jumps: as such the Skellam distribution is suited for modelling data representing differences (e.g., soccer scorings) or increments (e.g., up and down price movements). An actuarial example is the application to experience (bonus-malus) rating in motor-vehicle insurance.

The moment generating function of the Skellam process reads as (see [4])

$$M(u;t) = \mathbb{E}[e^{uS}] = e^{-(\lambda_1(e^u - 1) + \lambda_2(e^u - 1))t} \qquad |u| \le 1$$
(1.49)

Remark 1.5. The Skellam process is a special case of a birth-death process with $\lambda_k \equiv \lambda_1$ and $\mu_k \equiv \lambda_2$. See paragraph 4.

1.4 The non-homogeneous Poisson process

A generalisation of the Poisson process can be obtained by assuming that the rate function $\lambda = \lambda(t)$ depends on time t (cf. Fig. 1.5).

In this situation the definition of an homogeneous Poisson process can be rewritten as:

- 1. $\Pr\{N(0) = 0\} = 1;$
- 2. Pr {N(t, t + dt] = 1} = $\lambda(t)dt + o(dt)$, where $\lambda(t) > 0, t > 0$;
- 3. Pr {N(t, t + dt] = 0} = 1 $\lambda(t)dt + o(dt)$;
- 4. $\Pr\{N(t, t + dt] > 1\} = o(dt);$
- 5. If $0 = t_0 < t_1 < \ldots < t_n < t$, the random variables $N(t_j) N(t_{j-1}), 1 \leq j \leq n$, are independent,

so that equation (1.1) must be replaced by:

$$\frac{d}{dt}p_k(t) = -\lambda(t)p_k(t) + \lambda(t)p_{k-1}(t), \qquad k \ge 0,$$
(1.50)

with the initial conditions

$$p_k(0) = \begin{cases} 1 & k = 0\\ 0 & k > 0 \end{cases}$$
(1.51)

and $p_{-1}(t) = 0$.

The probability generating function G(u, t), $|u| \leq 1, t > 0$, emerges by solving the following partial



Figure 1.5: A typical sample path of the non-homogeneous Poisson path with non-linear (decreasing and logistic) intensity (i.e., $\lambda(t) = \frac{r(C-n_0)}{C-n_0+n_0e^{rt}}$, where C, n_0 and r are respectively the maximum point or capacity of the system, the minimum point and the growth rate of a logistic growth).

differential equation:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}G(u,t) = \lambda(t)(u-1)G(u,t),\\ G(u,0) = 1. \end{cases}$$
(1.52)

From (1.52) it is clear that

$$G(u,t) = e^{-(1-u)\int_0^t \lambda(s)ds} = e^{-\int_0^t \lambda(s)ds} \left[\sum_{k=0}^\infty u^k \frac{\left[\int_0^t \lambda(s)ds\right]^k}{k!} \right],$$
 (1.53)

so that the probability distribution of the non-homogeneous Poisson process becomes

$$p_k(t) = e^{-\int_0^t \lambda(s)ds} \frac{\left[\int_0^t \lambda(s)ds\right]^k}{k!}, \qquad k \ge 0.$$
(1.54)

1.5 Compound Poisson processes

Let N(t) be the number of claims generated by an insurance policy in a fixed time interval [0, t]and let X_j , $j \ge 1$, be i.i.d. r.v.'s and also independent from the random number N(t). If X_j is the claim amount related to the *j*-th accident, the total amount of claims generated by this policy, in the given fixed time period [0, t], is:

$$Z(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{N(t)} X_j.$$
 (1.55)

Theorem 1.5: The mean and variance of Z(t) are:

$$\mathbb{E}[Z(t)] = \mathbb{E}[N(t)] \mathbb{E}(X)$$

$$\mathbb{V}ar[Z(t)] = \mathbb{E}[X]^2 \mathbb{V}ar[N(t)] + \mathbb{E}[N(t)] \mathbb{V}ar(X) = \mathbb{V}ar[N(t)][\mathbb{E}^2(X) + \mathbb{V}ar(X)] = \mathbb{V}ar[N(t)]\mathbb{E}[X^2]$$
(1.56)

Proof. For the mean

$$\mathbb{E}[Z(t)] = \mathbb{E}[\mathbb{E}[Z(t) \mid N(t)]] = \mathbb{E}[\mathbb{E}[\sum_{j=1}^{N} X_j \mid N(t)]] = \mathbb{E}[N(t)\mathbb{E}[X \mid N(t)]] = \mathbb{E}[N(t)]\mathbb{E}[X] \quad (1.57)$$

For the variance we use the following

Lemma 1: For arbitrary r.v.'s X, Y the following decomposition holds,

$$\mathbb{V}ar[Z] = \mathbb{E}_Y[\mathbb{V}ar[Z \mid Y]] + \mathbb{V}ar_Y[\mathbb{E}[Z \mid Y]].$$
(1.58)

Proof Lemma 1.

$$\mathbb{V}\mathrm{ar}[Z] = \mathbb{E}[(Z - \mathbb{E}[Z])^2] = \mathbb{E}[(Z - E[Z \mid Y] + E[Z \mid Y] - E[Z])^2]$$

= $\mathbb{E}_Y[\mathbb{E}[(Z - \mathbb{E}[Z \mid Y])^2 + (\mathbb{E}[Z \mid Y] - \mathbb{E}[Z])^2 \mid Y] + 2\mathbb{E}_Y[\mathbb{E}[(Z - \mathbb{E}[Z \mid Y])(\mathbb{E}[Z \mid Y] - \mathbb{E}[Z]) \mid Y]]$
(1.59)

but the second component is zero being

$$2(\mathbb{E}[Z \mid Y] - \mathbb{E}[Z]) \cdot \mathbb{E}[Z - E[Z \mid Y] \mid Y] = 0.$$
(1.60)

Moreover

$$\mathbb{E}_{Y}[\mathbb{E}[(Z - \mathbb{E}[Z \mid Y])^{2} \mid Y]] = \mathbb{E}_{Y}[\mathbb{V}ar[Z \mid Y]]$$
(1.61)

and

$$\mathbb{E}_{Y}[\mathbb{E}[\mathbb{E}[Z \mid Y] - \mathbb{E}[Z]]^{2} \mid Y] = \mathbb{E}[\mathbb{E}[Z \mid Y] - \mathbb{E}[Z]]^{2} = \mathbb{V}ar_{Y}[\mathbb{E}[Z \mid Y]]$$
(1.62)

so that $\mathbb{V}ar[Z] = \mathbb{V}ar_Y[\mathbb{E}[Z \mid Y]] + \mathbb{E}_Y[\mathbb{V}ar[Z \mid Y]].$

The variance is decomposed in the variance of the conditional mean plus the mean of the conditional variance.

Applying Lemma 1 to the Theorem 1.5

$$\mathbb{V}ar[Z(t)] = \mathbb{V}ar_N[\mathbb{E}[Z(t) \mid N(t)]] + \mathbb{E}_N[\mathbb{V}ar[Z(t) \mid N(t)]]$$
(1.63)

so that

$$\begin{cases} \mathbb{V}ar_N[\mathbb{E}[Z(t) \mid N(t)]] = \mathbb{V}ar_N[N(t)\mathbb{E}[X]] = \mathbb{E}[X]^2 \mathbb{V}ar[N(t)],\\ \mathbb{E}_N[\mathbb{V}ar[Z(t) \mid N(t)]] = \mathbb{E}_N[N(t)\mathbb{V}ar[X]] = \mathbb{E}[N(t)]\mathbb{V}ar[X]. \end{cases}$$
(1.64)

We used the property of the conditional expectation $\mathbb{E}_{Y}[\mathbb{E}[Z \mid Y]] = \mathbb{E}[Z]$.

In particular, if $Z = 1_A$ is the indicator function of event A,

$$\mathbb{E}_{Y}[Pr\{A \mid Y\}] = Pr\{A\} = \mathbb{E}[Z] \qquad \Box \tag{1.65}$$

If N(t) is Poisson and the X_j are non-negative i.i.d. r.v.'s with probability distribution function F we have that the probability generating function of the compound Poisson process is:

$$\mathbb{E}\left[u^{Z(t)}\right] = e^{-\lambda t + \lambda t \mathbb{E}\left[u^X\right]} = e^{-\lambda t \int_0^\infty (1 - u^x) dF(x)}.$$
(1.66)

In fact if the r.v.'s X_i are i.i.d. Poisson r.v.'s, then

$$\mathbb{E}\left[u^{Z(t)}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[u^{\sum_{j=1}^{N(t)} X_j}\right] = \mathbb{E}_N\left[\mathbb{E}\left[u^{\sum_{j=1}^{N(t)} X_j}|N(t)\right]\right] = \mathbb{E}_N\left[\mathbb{E}\left[u^X\right]^{N(t)}\right]$$
$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}\left[u^X\right]^k \cdot p_k(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}\left[u^X\right]^k \cdot e^{-\lambda t} \frac{(\lambda t)^k}{k!} = e^{-\lambda t} e^{\lambda t \cdot \mathbb{E}\left[u^X\right]} = e^{-\lambda t} e^{\lambda t \cdot \int_0^{\infty} u^x dF(x)} \qquad (1.67)$$
$$= e^{-\lambda t \{1 - \int_0^{\infty} u^x dF(x)\}} = e^{-\lambda t \int_0^{\infty} (1 - u^x) dF(x)}.$$

and the result obtains. \Box

Remark 1.6. If $X_j = N_j(t)$ the process $\sum_{j=1}^{N(t)} N_j(t)$ is called compound Poisson-Poisson. It represents the Poisson sum of Poisson processes.

Remark 1.7. For a portfolio of Q policies the total aggregate claim is $Z(t) = \sum_{q=1}^{Q} \sum_{j=1}^{N_q(t)} X_{q,j}$, where the $X_{q,j}$'s are i.i.d. Hence mean, variance and p.g.f. are given respectively as

$$\mathbb{E}[Z(t)] = \sum_{q} \mathbb{E}[N_q(t)]\mathbb{E}[X_q],$$

$$\mathbb{V}\mathrm{ar}[Z(t)] = \sum_{q} \mathbb{V}\mathrm{ar}[N_q(t)] \cdot \left[\mathbb{E}^2(X_q) + \mathbb{V}\mathrm{ar}(X_q)\right],$$

$$\mathbb{E}\left[u^{\sum_{q} Z_q(t)}\right] = e^{-t\sum_{q} \lambda_q + t\sum_{q} \lambda_q \mathbb{E}u^{X_q}} = e^{-t\sum_{q} \lambda_q(1 - \mathbb{E}u^{X_q})} = e^{-t\sum_{q} \lambda_q \int_0^\infty (1 - u^x) dF_q(x)}.$$

If to each Poisson event (a car accident) we associate a r.v. X_j (the amount of the damage) it is of interest to calculate the following probability:

$$\Pr\left\{\max\left(X_1,\ldots,X_{N(t)}\right) < b\right\}$$
(1.68)

which represents the maximal damage produced by the N(t) events in the interval (0, t).

Note that for N(t) = 0 we assume that $\max (X_1, \ldots, X_{N(t)}) = 0$. The probability (1.68) can be calculated as

$$\Pr\left\{\max\left(X_{1},\ldots,X_{N(t)}\right) < b\right\} = \mathbb{E}\left[\Pr\left\{\max\left(X_{1},\ldots,X_{N(t)}\right) < b \mid N(t)\right\}\right]$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \Pr\left\{\max\left(X_{1},\ldots,X_{k}\right) < b\right\} \Pr\{N(t) = k\}$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} [\Pr(X < b)]^{k} e^{-\lambda t} \frac{(\lambda t)^{k}}{k!}$$
$$= e^{-\lambda t + \lambda t \Pr\{X < b\}}.$$
(1.69)

Note that the distribution function of the random variable $\max(X_1, \ldots, X_{N(t)})$ reads

$$\Pr\left\{\max\left(X_{1},\ldots,X_{N(t)}\right) < b\right\} = \begin{cases} 0 & b < 0\\ e^{-\lambda t} & b = 0\\ e^{-\lambda t + \lambda t \Pr(X < b)} & b > 0 \end{cases}$$
(1.70)

and shows a jump of height $e^{-\lambda t}$ at b = 0.

In the special case when X is exponentially distributed, that is

$$\Pr(X < b) = \mu \int_0^b e^{-\mu y} dy = 1 - e^{-\mu b},$$
(1.71)

for b > 0, the probability distribution (1.70) becomes

$$\Pr\left\{\max\left(X_{1},\ldots,X_{N(t)}\right) < b\right\} = \begin{cases} 0 & b < 0\\ e^{-\lambda t} & b = 0\\ e^{-\lambda t e^{-\mu b}} & b > 0 \end{cases}$$
(1.72)

and is known as the Gumbel or Gnedenko distribution.

If we consider the special compound Poisson process

$$\sum_{j=1}^{N(\delta^{-\alpha})} X_j \quad 0 < \alpha < 1, \delta > 0 \tag{1.73}$$

where the X_j are positive i.i.d. r.v.'s with distribution

$$Pr(X > x) = \begin{cases} 1 & x \le \delta \\ \delta^{\alpha} x^{-\alpha} & x > \delta \end{cases}$$
(1.74)

and $N(\delta^{-\alpha})$ is a Poisson r.v. with parameter $\lambda = \delta^{-\alpha}$, $\delta > 0$, we have that, for $\delta \to 0$, (1.73) converges in distribution to an α -Stable subordinator $S_{\alpha}(\sigma, 1, 0)$ of order $0 < \alpha < 1$ with characteristic function

$$\mathbb{E}\left[e^{i\theta S_{\alpha}(\sigma,1,0)}\right] = e^{-|\theta|^{\alpha}\sigma^{\alpha}} \left(1 - isgn(\theta)tg\left(\frac{\pi}{2}\alpha\right)\right)$$
(1.75)

where $\sigma = \{\Gamma(1-\alpha)\cos\left(\frac{\pi}{2}\alpha\right)\}^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}$.

See the Appendix A for the general expression of the characteristic function of an α -Stable r.v. $S_{\alpha}(\mu, \beta, \sigma)$, when $\mu \neq 0, -1 < \beta < 1$.

1.6 Poisson random fields

Points randomly distributed in the Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^n can be modelled by means of a multi-index Poisson process, called Poisson field.

The basic property of the Poisson random fields (cf. Fig. 1.8) is represented by the independency of the random variables $N(S_A)$ and $N(S_B)$ for arbitrary disjoint sets S_A and S_B such that $S_A \cap S_B = \emptyset$. We have that for the Poisson random field of rate $\lambda > 0$ we have that

$$\Pr\{N(S) = k\} = \frac{\lambda^k [\mu(S)]^k}{k!} e^{-\lambda \mu(S)} \qquad k \ge 0$$
(1.76)

where $\mu(S)$ is the volume of the set $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ and $N : \mathcal{B}^n \to \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ when \mathcal{B}^n is the Borel class over \mathbb{R}^n .

Remark 1.8. The volume of a sphere S_r^n of radius r in \mathbb{R}^n is

$$\mu(S_r^n) = \int_0^r Area(S_r^n) dr,$$

where

$$\int_0^r Area(S_1^n)\rho^{n-1}d\rho = \int_0^r \frac{2\pi^{\frac{n}{2}}}{\Gamma(\frac{n}{2})}\rho^{n-1}d\rho = \frac{2\pi^{\frac{n}{2}}}{\Gamma(\frac{n}{2})}\int_0^r \rho^{n-1}d\rho = \frac{2\pi^{\frac{n}{2}}}{\Gamma(\frac{n}{2})}\frac{r^n}{n} = \frac{\pi^{\frac{n}{2}}r^n}{\Gamma(\frac{n}{2}+1)}$$

Remark 1.8 (cont.). For n = 3,

$$\mu(S_r^3) = \frac{\pi^{\frac{3}{2}}r^3}{\Gamma(\frac{3}{2}+1)} = \frac{4}{3}\frac{\pi^{\frac{3}{2}}r^3}{\sqrt{\pi}} = \frac{4}{3}\pi r^3,$$

where, according to the properties of the Gamma function, i.e. $\Gamma(z+1) = z! = z\Gamma(z), \Gamma(\frac{1}{2}) = \sqrt{\pi},$ $1 = \Gamma(2) = \Gamma(1) = 0!, \Gamma(-z) = \pm \infty \forall z$ positive integer

$$\Gamma(\frac{3}{2}+1) = \frac{3}{2}\Gamma(\frac{3}{2}) = \frac{3}{2}\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+1) = \frac{3}{2}\frac{1}{2}\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}) = \frac{3}{4}\sqrt{\pi},$$

Moreover

$$Area(S_1^n) = \frac{2\pi^{\frac{n}{2}}}{\Gamma(\frac{n}{2})}$$

where

$$S_r^n = \frac{2\pi^{\frac{n}{2}}}{\Gamma(\frac{n}{2})} r^{n-1}$$

A proof can be obtained from

$$\int \cdots \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{e^{-\frac{x_1^2}{2}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \dots \frac{e^{-\frac{x_n^2}{2}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} dx_1 \dots dx_n = 1$$

which is a multinormal distribution with independent marginals. The above integral can be evaluated by means of hyperspheric coordinates as

$$\int_0^\infty Area(S_1^n) r^{n-1} \frac{e^{-\frac{r^2}{2}}}{(2\pi)^{\frac{n}{2}}} dr = 1$$

so that

bein

$$Area(S_1^n) = \frac{(2\pi)^{\frac{n}{2}}}{\int_0^\infty r^{n-1}e^{-\frac{r^2}{2}}dr} = \frac{(2\pi)^{\frac{n}{2}}}{2^{\frac{n}{2}-1}\Gamma(\frac{n}{2})}$$

g $\Gamma(\alpha) = \int_0^\infty x^{\alpha-1}e^{-x}dx$ with the change of variable $x = \frac{r^2}{2}$.

For the distribution of the nearest neighbour in the Poisson random field we have that

Pr{the nearest neighbour to a fixed point with center at x is outside the sphere S_r of radius r} = Pr{ $N(S_r) = 0$ } = $e^{-\lambda \mu(S_r)}$.

For example, in \mathbb{R}^2 and \mathbb{R}^3 we have that

$$\Pr\{N(S_r) = 0\} = \begin{cases} e^{-\lambda \pi r^2} & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^2\\ e^{-\frac{4}{3}\lambda \pi r^3} & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^3 \end{cases}$$
(1.78)

For the planar case \mathbb{R}^2 , the density related to (1.78) reads

$$f(r) = 2\lambda \pi r e^{-\lambda \pi r^2} \qquad r > 0 \tag{1.79}$$

which therefore is a Rayleigh distribution. In \mathbb{R}^n we have

$$\Pr\{N(S_r) = 0\} = \exp\left(-\lambda \frac{\pi^{\frac{n}{2}} r^n}{\Gamma(\frac{n}{2}+1)}\right).$$
(1.80)



Figure 1.6: A general sample path of a Poisson random field.

1.7 The integral of an homogeneous Poisson process

In this section we study the integral of an homogeneous Poisson process (see [15]):

$$\mathcal{N}(t) = \int_0^t N(s)ds = \sum_{j=2}^n (T_j - T_{j-1})(j-1) + n(t-T_n)$$
(1.81)

where, as in (1.18),

$$\Pr\{T_1 \in dt_1, \cdots, T_n \in dt_n \mid N(t) = n\} = \frac{n! dt_1 \cdots dt_n}{t^n}, \quad \text{with } 0 < t_1 < t_2 < \cdots < t_n < t.$$
(1.82)

Remark 1.9. The $T_j - T_{j-1}$ are distributed as the difference between order statistics from Uniform[0, T] r.v.'s (see [6], cf. also [7]). As an example, the distribution of the difference of order statistics is of interest in statistical seismology, in which case the difference of order statistics of magnitudes following a Gutenberg-Richter (i.e., exponential) law is (again) exponential.

It is possible to show that the conditional characteristic function of $\mathcal{N}(t)$ reads

$$\mathbb{E}\left(e^{i\beta\mathcal{N}(t)}\Big|\mathcal{N}(t)=n\right) = \frac{(e^{i\beta t}-1)^n}{t^n(i\beta)^n}$$
(1.83)

while the unconditional characteristic function is

$$\mathbb{E}\left(e^{i\beta\mathcal{N}(t)}\right) = e^{\lambda\int_0^t (e^{i\beta s} - 1)ds}$$
(1.84)

because

$$\mathbb{E}\left[e^{i\beta\mathcal{N}(t)}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[e^{i\beta\int_{0}^{t}N(s)ds}\right] = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}\left[e^{i\beta\int_{0}^{t}N(s)ds} \mid N(t) = n\right] \cdot Pr\{N(t) = n\}$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(e^{i\beta t} - 1)^{n}}{t^{n}(i\beta)^{n}} e^{-\lambda t} \frac{(\lambda t)^{n}}{n!} = e^{-\lambda t} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{[\lambda(e^{i\beta t} - 1)]^{n}}{(i\beta)^{n}n!}$$
$$= e^{-\lambda t} e^{\frac{\lambda(e^{i\beta t} - 1)}{i\beta}} = e^{-\lambda t} e^{\lambda\int_{0}^{t} e^{i\beta s}ds} = e^{\lambda\int_{0}^{t} (e^{i\beta s} - 1)ds}.$$
(1.85)

For small values of t the following approximation holds:

$$\mathbb{E}\left(e^{i\beta\mathcal{N}(t)}\right) = e^{i\lambda\beta\frac{t^2}{2} - \lambda\beta^2\frac{t^3}{6} + o(t^3)}$$
(1.86)

This implies that, for small value of t, the area below an homogeneous Poisson process is distributed as a normal with mean $\mathbb{E}[\mathcal{N}(t)] = \frac{\lambda t^2}{2}$ and variance $\mathbb{Var}[\mathcal{N}(t)] = \frac{\lambda t^3}{3}$, since the c.f. of a Normal distribution $N(\mu, \sigma^2)$ is $\mathbb{E}\left[e^{-i\beta N(\mu, \sigma^2)}\right] = e^{i\beta\mu - \beta^2 \frac{\sigma^2}{2}}$. Moreover

(i) the relationship

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\int_{0}^{t} N^{k}(s)ds \left| N(t) = n\right\} = \frac{t}{n+1} \sum_{j=1}^{n} j^{k} = \begin{cases} \frac{nt}{2} & k = 1\\ \frac{n(2n+1)t}{6} & k = 2\\ \frac{n^{2}(n+1)t}{4} & k = 3 \end{cases}$$
(1.87)

holds, where we applied the following formulas

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} j = \frac{n(n+1)}{2}$$

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} j^{2} = \frac{n(n+1)(2n+1)}{6}$$

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} j^{3} = \left(\frac{n(n+1)}{2}\right)^{2} = \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} j\right)^{2};$$
(1.88)

(ii) by conditioning out (1.87) we easily have the unconditional values

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\int_{0}^{t} N(s)^{k} ds\right\} = \begin{cases} \frac{\lambda^{2} t^{2}}{2} & k = 1\\ \frac{\lambda^{2} t^{3}}{3} + \frac{\lambda t^{2}}{2} & k = 2\\ \frac{\lambda^{3} t^{4}}{4} + \lambda^{2} t^{3} + \frac{\lambda t^{2}}{2} & k = 3 \end{cases}$$
(1.89)

For the second order moment of (1.81) we have the following results

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{ \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} N(s)ds \right)^{2} \middle| N(t) = n \right\} = \frac{n(3n+1)t^{2}}{12} \\
\mathbb{V}ar \left\{ \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} N(s)ds \right)^{2} \middle| N(t) = n \right\} = \frac{nt^{2}}{12}$$
(1.90)

as stated in [15]. From (1.89) we extract the variance of the integral of the Poisson process

$$\mathbb{V}ar\left(\int_0^t N(s)ds\right) = \mathbb{E}\left(\mathbb{V}ar\int_0^t N(s)ds|N(t)\right) + \mathbb{V}ar\left(\mathbb{E}\int_0^t N(s)ds|N(t)\right) = \frac{\lambda t^3}{3}.$$
 (1.91)

1.8 Iterated Poisson: composition of two independent Poisson processes

We now study the composition of two independent Poisson processes N_{α} and N_{β} of rates λ_{α} and λ_{β} (for details see [13]). The process (iterated Poisson)

$$\mathcal{M}(t) \equiv N_{\alpha} \left(N_{\beta}(t) \right) \tag{1.92}$$

is a Poisson process sampled at the random time $N_{\beta}(t)$. Thus $\mathcal{M}(t)$ can be regarded as a time changed Poisson process and is a process with jumps of integer-valued random size.

The following relationship between the iterated Poisson $\mathcal{M}(t)$ and a special compound Poisson process (compound Poisson-Poisson) holds:

$$N_{\alpha}\left(N_{\beta}(t)\right) \stackrel{D}{\sim} \sum_{j=1}^{N_{\beta}(t)} N_{j} \tag{1.93}$$

where the N_j are i.i.d. Poisson distributed random variables with parameter λ_{α} . **Theorem 1.6**: The iterated process $\mathcal{M}(t)$ has distribution:

$$Pr\left\{\mathcal{M}(t)=k\right\} = \frac{\lambda_{\alpha}^{k}}{k!} e^{-\lambda_{\beta}t(1-e^{-\lambda_{\alpha}})} \underbrace{B_{k}\left(e^{-\lambda_{\alpha}}\lambda_{\beta}t\right)}_{\text{Bell polynomials}}$$
(1.94)

where the Bell polynomials⁴ are defined as $B_k(x) = e^{-x} \sum_{r=0}^{+\infty} \frac{r^k x^r}{r!}$.

Proof. In fact

$$\Pr\{\mathcal{M}(t) = k\} = \mathbb{E}[\Pr\{N_{\alpha}(N_{\beta}(t)) = k \mid N_{\beta}(t)\}] = \sum_{h=0}^{\infty} \underbrace{\Pr\{N_{\alpha}(h) = k\}\Pr\{N_{\beta}(t) = h\}}_{\text{joint distribution}}$$
$$= \sum_{h=0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda_{\alpha}h} \frac{(\lambda_{\alpha}h)^{k}}{k!} e^{-\lambda_{\beta}t} \frac{(\lambda_{\beta}t)^{h}}{h!} = e^{-\lambda_{\beta}t} \frac{\lambda_{\alpha}^{k}}{k!} \sum_{h=0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda_{\alpha}h}h^{k} \frac{(\lambda_{\beta}t)^{h}}{h!} = e^{-\lambda_{\beta}t} \frac{\lambda_{\alpha}^{k}}{k!} \sum_{h=0}^{\infty} h^{k} \frac{(e^{-\lambda_{\alpha}}\lambda_{\beta}t)^{h}}{h!}$$
$$= e^{-\lambda_{\beta}t} \frac{\lambda_{\alpha}^{k}}{k!} e^{e^{-\lambda_{\alpha}}\lambda_{\beta}t} \underbrace{\sum_{h=0}^{\infty} h^{k} \frac{(e^{-\lambda_{\alpha}}\lambda_{\beta}t)^{h}}{h!}}_{\text{Bell polynomials } \mathcal{B}_{k}(e^{-\lambda_{\alpha}}\lambda_{\beta}t)} = \frac{\lambda_{\alpha}^{k}}{k!} e^{-\lambda_{\beta}t(1-e^{-\lambda_{\alpha}})} B_{k}(e^{-\lambda_{\alpha}}\lambda_{\beta}t)$$
(1.95)

⁴They are also known as Touchard polynomials or exponential Bell polynomials. They represent the moments of the Poisson distribution, i.e. $B_k(\lambda) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} n^k \cdot e^{-\lambda} \frac{\lambda^n}{n!}$, where λ is the intensity of the Poisson r.v. In R one can refer to the function *eBellPol* of the package *kStatistics*.

Note further that this iterated Poisson process can count the total number of claims arising from a Poisson number of cars N_{β} having *each* a Poisson number of accidents N_j . It can be also noted that we can define a compound Poisson-Binomial model, $\sum_{j=1}^{N_{\beta}(t)} B_j(p)$ counting the total number of fatal crashes arising from a Poisson number of accidents N_{β} , where a Bernoulli variable $B_j(p)$ takes value 1 if the accident is fatal and zero if not.

Theorem 1.7: The mean and variance of $\mathcal{M}(t)$ are

$$\mathbb{E}[\mathcal{M}(t)] = \lambda_{\alpha}\lambda_{\beta}t$$

$$\mathbb{V}ar[\mathcal{M}(t)] = \lambda_{\alpha}(\lambda_{\alpha}+1)\lambda_{\beta}t > \mathbb{E}[\mathcal{M}(t)]$$
(1.96)

Proof. From the definition

$$\mathbb{E}[\mathcal{M}(t)] = \mathbb{E}[N_{\alpha}(N_{\beta}(t))] = \mathbb{E}_{N_{\beta}}[\mathbb{E}[N_{\alpha}(N_{\beta}(t)) \mid N_{\beta}(t)]] = \mathbb{E}[\lambda_{\alpha}N_{\beta}(t)] = \lambda_{\alpha}\lambda_{\beta}t$$

= $\mathbb{V}ar[\mathcal{M}(t)] = \mathbb{E}[\mathcal{M}^{2}(t)] - \mathbb{E}^{2}[\mathcal{M}(t)]$ (1.97)

and

$$\mathbb{E}[\mathcal{M}^{2}(t)] = \mathbb{E}\left[N_{\alpha}^{2}(N_{\beta}(t))\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}_{N_{\beta}}[\mathbb{E}[N_{\alpha}^{2}(N_{\beta}(t)) | N_{\beta}(t)]]$$
$$= \sum_{h=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{E}\left[N_{\alpha}^{2}(h)\right] \Pr\{N_{\beta}(t) = h\} = \sum_{h=0}^{\infty} \left[\lambda_{\alpha}^{2}h^{2} + \lambda_{\alpha}h\right] e^{-\lambda_{\beta}t} \frac{(\lambda_{\beta}t)^{h}}{h!}$$
$$= \lambda_{\alpha}^{2} \sum_{h=0}^{\infty} h^{2}e^{-\lambda_{\beta}t} \frac{(\lambda_{\beta}t)^{h}}{h!} + \lambda_{\alpha} \sum_{h=0}^{\infty} he^{-\lambda_{\beta}t} \frac{(\lambda_{\beta}t)^{h}}{h!}$$
$$= \lambda_{\alpha}^{2} \left[\lambda_{\beta}^{2}t^{2} + \lambda_{\beta}t\right] + \lambda_{\alpha}\lambda_{\beta}t$$
(1.98)

and

$$\mathbb{V}ar[\mathcal{M}(t)] = \lambda_{\alpha}^{2}\lambda_{\beta}^{2}t^{2} + \lambda_{\alpha}^{2}\lambda_{\beta}t + \lambda_{\alpha}\lambda_{\beta}t - \lambda_{\alpha}^{2}\lambda_{\beta}^{2}t^{2}$$
$$= \lambda_{\alpha}\lambda_{\beta}t(\lambda_{\alpha}+1)$$
(1.99)

It is interesting to note that the iterated Poisson process is overdispersed having the variance greater than the mean.

For the iterated Poisson process the distribution of the first passage time through a level k, which is defined as

$$T_k^{(\alpha,\beta)} = \inf\{s > 0 : \mathcal{M}(t) = N_\alpha(N_\beta(t)) = k\}, \quad k \ge 1$$
(1.100)

is of great interest. In [10] the authors derive the distribution of the hitting time T_k as follows:

$$\Pr\{T_k^{(\alpha,\beta)} \in ds\}$$

= $e^{-\lambda_{\alpha}} \frac{\lambda_{\alpha}^k}{k!} \lambda_{\beta} e^{-\lambda_{\beta}s} ds \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda_{\alpha}j} [(j+1)^k - j^k] \frac{(\lambda_{\beta}s)^j}{j!}, \quad s > 0.$ (1.101)

The distribution of T_k reads (cf. Fig. 1.7)

$$Pr\left(T_k \in ds\right) = ds\lambda_{\beta}e^{-\lambda_{\alpha}}e^{-\lambda_{\beta}s}\frac{\lambda_{\alpha}^k}{k!}\sum_{j=0}^{\infty}e^{-\lambda_{\alpha}j}\left[(j+1)^k - j^k\right]\frac{(\lambda_{\beta}s)^j}{j!} \quad s > 0.$$
(1.102)

For the hitting probabilities $Pr\left(T_k < \infty\right)$ we have that

$$Pr\left(T_k < \infty\right) = e^{-\lambda_\alpha} \frac{\lambda_\alpha^k}{k!} \sum_{j=0}^\infty e^{-\lambda_\alpha j} \left[(j+1)^k - j^k \right] < 1 \quad \forall k$$
(1.103)

and, in particular,

$$Pr(T_1 < \infty) = \frac{\lambda_\alpha e^{-\lambda_\alpha}}{1 - e^{-\lambda_\alpha}} < 1.$$
(1.104)

It means that there is a positive probability of never reaching level k for the iterated Poisson process.



Figure 1.7: Iterated Poisson process: Probability mass function of the hitting time at time t = 1 against various levels k of upcrossing and $\lambda_{\alpha} = \lambda_{\beta} = 1$.

Chapter 2

Birth processes

2.1 The nonlinear case

In order to describe the population dynamics, an effective model based on the assumption that the probability of new offsprings depends on the current size of the population, is now presented. We assume also, for the sake of simplicity, that at time t = 0 there is only one progenitor.

Let $\mathcal{N}(t)$, t > 0, be the size population at time t; its probabilistic evolution is governed by the following rules $(k \ge 1)$:

1. $\Pr{\{\mathcal{N}(0) = 1\}=1;}$

2.
$$\Pr{\{\mathcal{N}(t, t+dt] = 1 \mid \mathcal{N}(t) = k\}} = \lambda_k dt + o(dt);$$

- 3. $\Pr{\{\mathcal{N}(t, t+dt] = 0 \mid \mathcal{N}(t) = k\}} = 1 \lambda_k dt + o(dt);$
- 4. $\Pr{\{\mathcal{N}(t, t+dt] > 1 \mid \mathcal{N}(t) = k\}} = o(dt),$

where $\lambda_k > 0$ are the time-independent birth-rates.

Remark 2.1 A more general birth process is obtained by assuming that the birth rates are time dependent, i.e. $\lambda_k = \lambda_k(t)$.

Remark 2.2 Note that if $\lambda_k = \lambda \forall k$ the increments are independent and the process is a homogeneous Poisson process. Note also that this birth process cannot model the population dynamics of male/female type, because here there is essentially a single "sex" generating by parthenogenesis.

Note that the independence of increments, in this case, is no longer holding (cf. Fig. 2.1). The state probabilities are:

$$p_k(t) = \Pr\{\mathcal{N}(t) = k \mid \mathcal{N}(0) = 1\}, \qquad (2.1)$$

satisfy the difference-differential equation

$$\frac{d}{dt}p_{k}(t) = -\lambda_{k}p_{k}(t) + \lambda_{k-1}p_{k-1}(t) \qquad t > 0$$
(2.2)

with initial conditions

$$p_k(0) = \begin{cases} 1 & k = 1 \\ 0 & k \ge 2 \end{cases}$$
(2.3)

The solution of (2.2)-(2.3) is carried out by means of a recursive procedure. If k = 1, the solution of

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d}{dt}p_1(t) = -\lambda_1 p_1(t), \\ p_1(0) = 1, \end{cases}$$
(2.4)

is $p_1(t) = e^{-\lambda_1 t}$.

To obtain $p_2(t)$, it is necessary to solve the non-homogeneous linear equation

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d}{dt}p_2(t) = -\lambda_2 p_2(t) + \lambda_1 e^{-\lambda_1 t}, \\ p_2(0) = 0, \end{cases}$$
(2.5)

that provides

$$p_2(t) = e^{-\lambda_2 t} \left\{ \int_0^t \lambda_1 e^{-\lambda_1 s} e^{\lambda_2 s} \right\} = \lambda_1 e^{-\lambda_2 t} \left[\left. \frac{e^{(\lambda_2 - \lambda_1)s}}{\lambda_2 - \lambda_1} \right|_{s=0}^{s=t} \right] = \lambda_1 \left[\left. \frac{e^{-\lambda_1 t}}{\lambda_2 - \lambda_1} + \frac{e^{-\lambda_2 t}}{\lambda_1 - \lambda_2} \right].$$
(2.6)

In order to understand how the distribution $p_k(t)$ emerges, we consider the case k = 3 that is

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d}{dt}p_3(t) = -\lambda_3 p_3(t) + \lambda_2 \lambda_1 \left[\frac{e^{-\lambda_1 t}}{\lambda_2 - \lambda_1} + \frac{e^{-\lambda_2 t}}{\lambda_1 - \lambda_2} \right],\\ p_3(0) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(2.7)

By proceeding as for (2.5) we have that

$$p_{3}(t) = e^{-\lambda_{3}t} \left[\int_{0}^{t} \lambda_{2}\lambda_{1} \left(\frac{e^{-\lambda_{1}s}}{\lambda_{2} - \lambda_{1}} + \frac{e^{-\lambda_{2}s}}{\lambda_{1} - \lambda_{2}} \right) e^{\lambda_{3}s} ds \right]$$

$$= e^{-\lambda_{3}t}\lambda_{1}\lambda_{2} \left[\frac{e^{(\lambda_{3} - \lambda_{1})t} - 1}{(\lambda_{3} - \lambda_{1})(\lambda_{2} - \lambda_{1})} + \frac{e^{(\lambda_{3} - \lambda_{2})t} - 1}{(\lambda_{1} - \lambda_{2})(\lambda_{3} - \lambda_{2})} \right]$$

$$= \lambda_{1}\lambda_{2} \left[\frac{e^{-\lambda_{1}t}}{(\lambda_{3} - \lambda_{1})(\lambda_{2} - \lambda_{1})} + \frac{e^{-\lambda_{2}t}}{(\lambda_{1} - \lambda_{2})(\lambda_{3} - \lambda_{2})} - \frac{e^{-\lambda_{3}t}}{\lambda_{2} - \lambda_{1}} \left(\frac{1}{\lambda_{3} - \lambda_{1}} - \frac{1}{\lambda_{3} - \lambda_{2}} \right) \right] \quad (2.8)$$

$$= \lambda_{1}\lambda_{2} \left[\frac{e^{-\lambda_{1}t}}{(\lambda_{3} - \lambda_{1})(\lambda_{2} - \lambda_{1})} + \frac{e^{-\lambda_{2}t}}{(\lambda_{1} - \lambda_{2})(\lambda_{3} - \lambda_{2})} + \frac{e^{-\lambda_{3}t}}{(\lambda_{1} - \lambda_{3})(\lambda_{2} - \lambda_{3})} \right]$$

$$= \prod_{j=1}^{2} \lambda_{j} \left[\sum_{m=1}^{3} \frac{e^{-\lambda_{m}t}}{\prod_{l=1, l \neq m}^{3} (\lambda_{l} - \lambda_{m})} \right]$$

Formula (2.8) suggests that the general expression for the probabilities $p_k(t)$ has the form

$$p_{k}(t) = \begin{cases} \prod_{j=1}^{k-1} \lambda_{j} \sum_{m=1}^{k} \frac{e^{-\lambda_{m}t}}{\prod_{l=1, l \neq m}^{k} (\lambda_{l} - \lambda_{m})}, & k > 1, \\ e^{-\lambda_{1}t}, & k = 1. \end{cases}$$
(2.9)

Proceeding by induction, we must solve the following Cauchy problem

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d}{dt}p_k(t) = -\lambda_k p_k(t) + \lambda_{k-1} \prod_{j=1}^{k-2} \lambda_j \sum_{m=1}^{k-1} \frac{e^{-\lambda_m t}}{\prod_{l=1, l \neq m}^k (\lambda_l - \lambda_m)}, & k > 1, \\ p_k(0) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(2.10)

The solution to (2.10) is obtained by applying the formula for the solution of first-order linear non-homogeneous equations¹ which yields:

$$p_{k}(t) = e^{-\lambda_{k}t} \left[\int_{0}^{t} \prod_{j=1}^{k-1} \lambda_{j} \sum_{m=1}^{k-1} \frac{e^{-\lambda_{m}s}}{\prod_{l=1,l\neq m}^{k} (\lambda_{l} - \lambda_{m})} e^{\lambda_{k}s} ds \right]$$

$$= e^{-\lambda_{k}t} \left[\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} \lambda_{j} \sum_{m=1}^{k-1} \frac{e^{(\lambda_{k} - \lambda_{m})t} - 1}{\prod_{l=1,l\neq m}^{k} (\lambda_{l} - \lambda_{m}) (\lambda_{k} - \lambda_{m})} \right]$$

$$= \prod_{j=1}^{k-1} \lambda_{j} \left[\sum_{m=1}^{k-1} \frac{e^{-\lambda_{m}t}}{\prod_{l=1,l\neq m}^{k} (\lambda_{l} - \lambda_{m})} - e^{-\lambda_{k}t} \sum_{m=1}^{k-1} \frac{1}{\prod_{l=1,l\neq m}^{k} (\lambda_{l} - \lambda_{m})} \right]$$

$$= \prod_{j=1}^{k-1} \lambda_{j} \left[\sum_{m=1}^{k} \frac{e^{-\lambda_{m}t}}{\prod_{l=1,l\neq m}^{k} (\lambda_{l} - \lambda_{m})} \right],$$

$$(2.11)$$

 since^2

$$-\sum_{m=1}^{k-1} \frac{1}{\prod_{l=1, l \neq m}^{k} (\lambda_l - \lambda_m)} = \frac{1}{\prod_{l=1, l \neq k}^{k} (\lambda_l - \lambda_k)}$$
(2.12)

In order to retrieve $p_3(t)$ of formula (2.8) set k = 3 in (2.9). Equation (2.2) can also be solved by applying the Laplace transform

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\mu t} p_{k}(t) dt = \{ \mathcal{L} p_{k} \} (\mu), \qquad (2.13)$$

which provides the relationship (from (2.10))

$$\{\mathcal{L}p_k\}(\mu) = \frac{\lambda_{k-1}}{\mu + \lambda_k} \{\mathcal{L}p_{k-1}\}(\mu) = \prod_{j=1}^{k-1} \lambda_j \prod_{j=1}^k \frac{1}{\mu + \lambda_j}.$$
(2.14)

By evaluating the Laplace transform of (2.9) and by comparing the result obtained with (2.14) we have that

$$\prod_{j=1}^{k} \frac{1}{\mu + \lambda_j} = \sum_{m=1}^{k} \frac{1}{\prod_{l=1, l \neq m}^{k} (\lambda_l - \lambda_m)} \frac{1}{\mu + \lambda_m}.$$
(2.15)

Remark 2.3 If $\sum_{m=1} \frac{1}{\lambda_m} = \infty$ then $\Pr{\{\mathcal{N}(t) < \infty\}} = 1$, so that the size population cannot explode in a finite time. This means that the birth rates must increase slowly so that the sequence $1/\lambda_m$, $m \geq 1$, forms a divergent series.

¹It is trivial to note that the terms correspond to the form y'(t) + a(t) = b(t), where, for all k > 1, $a(t) \equiv \lambda_k$ and $b(t) \equiv \lambda_{k-1} \prod_{j=1}^{k-2} \lambda_j \sum_{m=1}^{k-1} \frac{e^{-\lambda_m}}{\prod_{l=1, l \neq m}^k (\lambda_l - \lambda_m)}.$ ²The result obtains after application of the Laplace expansion for determinants.

Theorem 2.1: The time between the k-th and (k + 1)-th birth has distribution

$$\Pr\{T_k \in ds\} = \lambda_k e^{-\lambda_k s} ds, \qquad s > 0.$$
(2.16)

Let $Z_k = T_1 + \cdots + T_k$ the waiting time for k-th birth. We have the following relation:

$$\Pr\{T_1 + \dots + T_k \in dt\} = \int_0^t \Pr\{T_1 + \dots + T_{k-1} \in ds\} \Pr\{T_k \in d(t-s)\},$$
(2.17)

where

$$\Pr\{T_1 + \dots + T_{k-1} \in ds\}/ds = \frac{d}{ds}\Pr\{\mathcal{N}(s) \ge k\}.$$
(2.18)

Consider that \mathcal{N} includes also the progenitor³.

By applying the Laplace transform to both members of (2.17), we have that

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\mu t} \Pr\{T_{1} + \dots + T_{k} \in dt\}$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\mu t} dt \int_{0}^{t} \Pr\{T_{k} \in d(t-s)\} \Pr\{T_{1} + \dots + T_{k-1} \in ds\}$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} \Pr\{T_{1} + \dots + T_{k-1} \in ds\} \int_{s}^{\infty} e^{-\mu t} \Pr\{T_{k} \in d(t-s)\}$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\mu s} \Pr\{T_{1} + \dots + T_{k-1} \in ds\} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\mu y} \Pr\{T_{k} \in dy\}$$

$$= \prod_{j=1}^{k} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\mu s} \Pr\{T_{j} \in ds\} = \prod_{j=1}^{k} \frac{\lambda_{j}}{\mu + \lambda_{j}}.$$
(2.19)

Each factor in (2.19) is the Laplace transform of (2.11). Furthermore

$$\Pr\{T_1 < s\} = \Pr\{N(s) \ge 2\}$$
(2.20)

and taking the derivative

$$\frac{\Pr\{T_1 \in ds\}}{ds} = \frac{d}{ds} \Pr\{N(s) \ge 2\} = \frac{d}{ds} (1 - \Pr\{N(s) = 1\}) = \frac{d}{ds} (1 - e^{-\lambda_1 s}) = \lambda_1 e^{-\lambda_1 s}$$
(2.21)

and

$$\Pr\{T_1 + T_2 < s\} = \Pr\{N(s) \ge 3\} = 1 - \Pr\{N(s) = 1\} - \Pr\{N(s) = 2\}$$
(2.22)

and deriving:

$$\Pr\{T_1 + T_2 \in ds\}/ds = \frac{d}{ds}\{1 - \Pr\{N(s) = 1\} - \Pr\{N(s) = 2\}\}$$
$$= \lambda_1 e^{-\lambda_1 s} + \lambda_1 \left[\lambda_1 \frac{e^{-\lambda_1 s}}{\lambda_2 - \lambda_1} + \lambda_2 \frac{e^{-\lambda_2 s}}{\lambda_1 - \lambda_2}\right]$$
$$= \frac{\lambda_1 \lambda_2}{\lambda_2 - \lambda_1} \left(e^{-\lambda_1 s} - e^{-\lambda_2 s}\right).$$
(2.23)

³i.e., k includes one progenitor and k-1 offsprings.

Note that (2.19), for k = 2, becomes

$$\int_0^\infty e^{-\mu t} \Pr\{T_1 + T_2 \in dt\} = \frac{\lambda_1 \lambda_2}{(\lambda_1 + \mu)(\lambda_2 + \mu)},\tag{2.24}$$

and corresponds to the Laplace transform of (2.23).



Figure 2.1: A general sample path of a birth processes.

2.2 Linear case (Yule-Furry)

In this section we denote with $\hat{N}(t)$, t > 0, the size of the population at time t of a linear birth process (called also Yule–Furry process). In this case the birth rates become $\lambda_k = \lambda k$, con $\lambda > 0$. The distribution (2.9) becomes relatively simple. By observing that

$$\prod_{l=1, l \neq m}^{k} (l\lambda - m\lambda) =$$

$$= \lambda^{k-1} \left[(1-m)(2-m) \dots (m-1-m)(m+1-m) \dots (k-m) \right]$$

$$= \lambda^{k-1} (-1)^{m-1} (m-1)! (k-m)! ,$$
(2.25)

formula (2.9) can be rewritten as

$$p_{k}(t) = \lambda^{k-1}(k-1)! \sum_{m=1}^{k} \frac{e^{-\lambda m t}}{\lambda^{k-1}(m-1)!(k-m)!} (-1)^{m-1}$$

$$= \sum_{m=1}^{k} e^{-\lambda m t} (-1)^{m-1} \frac{(k-1)!}{(m-1)!(k-m)!} = \sum_{m=0}^{k-1} e^{-\lambda t(m+1)} (-1)^{m} \frac{(k-1)!}{m!(k-m-1)!} \qquad (2.26)$$

$$= e^{-\lambda t} \sum_{m=0}^{k-1} \binom{k-1}{m} (-1)^{m} e^{-\lambda t m} = e^{-\lambda t} \left(1 - e^{-\lambda t}\right)^{k-1}, \qquad k \ge 1,$$

which is a geometric distribution (cf. Fig. 2.2).

Remark 2.4 Note that if the progenitors are $n_0 > 1$ the random number $\hat{N}(t)$ of components of the population becomes a Negative Binomial distribution (the sum of n_0 independent Geometric r.v.'s):

$$p_k(t) = {\binom{k-1}{k-n_0}} e^{-\lambda t n_0} (1 - e^{-\lambda t})^{k-n_0}, \qquad k \ge n_0,$$

(cf. Fig. 2.3 and Fig. 2.4).



Figure 2.2: State probabilities $\{p_k(t), k \ge 1\}$ of a pure birth process (linear case), with one progenitor $(n_0 = 1)$ and $\lambda = 1$; t = 1.

The probabilities (2.26) can be obtained directly by solving the following equations, recursively

$$\frac{d}{dt}p_k(t) = -\lambda k p_k(t) + \lambda (k-1)p_{k-1}(t)$$
(2.27)



Figure 2.3: State probabilities $\{p_k(t), k \ge 1\}$ of a pure birth process (linear case), for $n_0 = 2$ progenitors (Negative Binomial) and $\lambda = 1$; t = 1.



Figure 2.4: State probabilities $\{p_k(t), k \ge 1\}$ of a pure birth process (linear case), $n_0 = 10$ progenitors (Negative Binomial) and $\lambda = 1$; t = 1.

with initial conditions

$$p_k(0) = \begin{cases} 1, & k = 1, \\ 0, & k \ge 2. \end{cases}$$
(2.28)

By using the probability generating function

$$G(u,t) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} u^k p_k(t), \quad |u| \le 1$$
(2.29)

we can pass from (2.27) to the following partial differential equation

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}G(u,t) = \lambda u(u-1)\frac{\partial}{\partial u}G(u,t)$$
(2.30)

with initial condition G(u, 0) = u. The general solution of (2.30) is

$$G(u,t) = f\left(e^{-\lambda t}\frac{u}{1-u}\right)$$
(2.31)

where $f \in \mathbb{C}^1$ is a differentiable function. The initial condition permits us to obtain the explicit form of f because

$$G(u,0) = u = f\left(\frac{u}{1-u}\right)$$
(2.32)

and by setting $\frac{u}{1-u} = v$ we see that $f(v) = \frac{v}{1+v}$. From (2.31) we then have that

$$G(u,t) = \frac{e^{-\lambda t} \frac{u}{1-u}}{1 + \frac{u}{1-u}e^{-\lambda t}} = \frac{ue^{-\lambda t}}{1 - u(1 - e^{-\lambda t})}$$
$$= ue^{-\lambda t} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} u^k \left(1 - e^{-\lambda t}\right)^k$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} u^k e^{-\lambda t} \left(1 - e^{-\lambda t}\right)^{k-1}$$
(2.33)

and this confirms (2.26).

From the probability generating function, by means of straightforward calculation, we can obtain that

$$\mathbb{E}[\hat{N}(t)] = e^{\lambda t}$$

$$\mathbb{V}\mathrm{ar}[\hat{N}(t)] = e^{\lambda t} \left(e^{\lambda t} - 1\right).$$
(2.34)

Thus a linear birth process has mean and variance increasing exponentially and since

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\lambda k} = \infty \tag{2.35}$$

 $\Pr{\{\hat{N}(t) < \infty\}} = 1$ for t > 0, that is the Yule–Furry process does not explode.
Chapter 3

Death processes

3.1 The nonlinear case

We consider a population with n_0 elements at time t = 0. Let $\mathcal{M}(t)$ be the number of elements of the population at time t > 0 and we denote by $\mathcal{M}(t, t + dt]$ the r.v. representing the decrease of the population in the time interval (t, t + dt].

We suppose that the population can only decrease according to the following probabilistic rules

- 1. $\Pr{\{\mathcal{M}(t) = n_0\}} = 1;$
- 2. $\Pr{\{\mathcal{M}(t, t+dt] = -1 \mid \mathcal{M}(t) = k\}} = \mu_k dt + o(dt), \ \mu_k > 0;$
- 3. $\Pr{\{\mathcal{M}(t, t+dt] = 0 \mid \mathcal{M}(t) = k\}} = 1 \mu_k dt + o(dt);$
- 4. $\Pr{\{\mathcal{M}(t, t+dt] < -1 \mid \mathcal{M}(t) = k\}} = o(dt),$

The last property excludes simultaneous deaths. The distribution

$$p_k(t) = \Pr\{\mathcal{M}(t) = k \mid \mathcal{M}(0) = n_0\}$$

$$(3.1)$$

is obtained by the solving the following difference-differential equations

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d}{dt}p_k(t) = -\mu_k p_k(t) + \mu_{k+1} p_{k+1}(t), & 1 \le k < n_0, \\ \frac{d}{dt}p_{n_0}(t) = -\mu_{n_0} p_{n_0}(t), & k = n_0, \\ \frac{d}{dt}p_0(t) = \mu_1 p_1(t), & k = 0. \end{cases}$$
(3.2)

The equations (3.2) are obtained by considering that the probability that at time t + dt there are k survivors is the probability that at time t either there are k survivors and in (t, t + dt] no death is recorded or there are k + 1 survivors and one of them disappears during the same time interval, i.e.

$$p_k(t+dt) = p_k(t)(1-\mu_k dt) + p_{k+1}(t)\mu_{k+1}dt + o(dt).$$
(3.3)

The second of equations (3.2) comes from

$$p_{n_0}(t+dt) = p_{n_0}(t)(1-\mu_{n_0}dt) + o(dt)$$
(3.4)

and the last of equations (3.2) comes from

$$p_0(t+dt) = p_0(t) + p_1(t)\mu_1 dt + o(dt).$$
(3.5)

A relevant feature for the death process is the extinction probability $p_0(t)$. Note that the second and third of equations (3.2) are obtained from the first one for $k = n_0$ and k = 0, respectively. The second equation of (3.2) comes from the first one with $\mu_{n_0+1} = 0$ because the population cannot increase in a pure death process.

Theorem 3.1: The probability distribution emerging from (3.2), has the form

$$p_{k}(t) = \begin{cases} e^{-\mu_{n_{0}}t}, & k = n_{0}, \\ \prod_{j=k+1}^{n_{0}} \mu_{j} \sum_{m=k}^{n_{0}} \frac{e^{-\mu_{m}t}}{\prod_{h=k,h\neq m}^{n_{0}}(\mu_{h}-\mu_{m})}, & 1 \le k < n_{0}, \\ 1 - \sum_{m=1}^{n_{0}} \prod_{h=1,h\neq m}^{n_{0}} \left(\frac{\mu_{h}}{\mu_{h}-\mu_{m}}\right) e^{-\mu_{m}t}, & k = 0. \end{cases}$$
(3.6)

Proof. The first result is straightforward. As far as the second probability of (3.6) is concerned we restrict ourselves to some specific cases. Equation (3.2), for $k = n_0 - 1$ becomes

$$\frac{d}{dt}p_{n_0-1}(t) = = -\mu_{n_0-1}p_{n_0-1}(t) + \mu_{n_0}p_{n_0}(t) = -\mu_{n_0-1}p_{n_0-1}(t) + \mu_{n_0}e^{-\mu_{n_0}t},$$
(3.7)

and its solution is

$$p_{n_0-1}(t) = = e^{-t\mu_{n_0-1}} \left\{ \int_0^t \mu_{n_0} e^{-s\mu_{n_0}} e^{s\mu_{n_0-1}} + \text{cost} \right\}$$

$$= \mu_{n_0} e^{-t\mu_{n_0-1}} \left\{ \frac{1 - e^{-(\mu_{n_0} - \mu_{n_0-1})t}}{\mu_{n_0} - \mu_{n_0-1}} \right\}$$

$$= \mu_{n_0} \left[\frac{e^{-t\mu_{n_0-1}}}{\mu_{n_0} - \mu_{n_0-1}} + \frac{e^{-t\mu_{n_0}}}{\mu_{n_0-1} - \mu_{n_0}} \right],$$

(3.8)

and is equal to (3.6) for $k = n_0 - 1$. The recursion method permits us to write

$$\frac{d}{dt}p_{n_0-2}(t) = -\mu_{n_0-2}p_{n_0-2}(t) + \mu_{n_0-1}\mu_{n_0} \left[\frac{e^{-t\mu_{n_0-1}}}{\mu_{n_0}-\mu_{n_0-1}} + \frac{e^{-t\mu_{n_0}}}{\mu_{n_0-1}-\mu_{n_0}}\right],$$
(3.9)

with initial condition $p_{n_0-2}(0) = 0$.

The solution of (3.9) reads

$$p_{n_{0}-2}(t) = e^{-t\mu_{n_{0}-2}} \left\{ \int_{0}^{t} \mu_{n_{0}-1}\mu_{n_{0}} \left[\frac{e^{-s\mu_{n_{0}-1}}}{\mu_{n_{0}} - \mu_{n_{0}-1}} + \frac{e^{-s\mu_{n_{0}}}}{\mu_{n_{0}-1} - \mu_{n_{0}}} \right] e^{s\mu_{n_{0}-2}} ds \right\}$$

$$= \mu_{n_{0}}\mu_{n_{0}-1} e^{-t\mu_{n_{0}-2}} \left\{ \frac{1 - e^{-(\mu_{n_{0}-1} - \mu_{n_{0}-2})t}}{(\mu_{n_{0}} - \mu_{n_{0}-1})(\mu_{n_{0}-1} - \mu_{n_{0}-2})} - \frac{1 - e^{-(\mu_{n_{0}} - \mu_{n_{0}-2})t}}{(\mu_{n_{0}} - \mu_{n_{0}-1})(\mu_{n_{0}} - \mu_{n_{0}-2})} \right\}$$

$$= \mu_{n_{0}}\mu_{n_{0}-1} \left[\frac{e^{-t\mu_{n_{0}-2}}}{(\mu_{n_{0}} - \mu_{n_{0}-1})(\mu_{n_{0}-1} - \mu_{n_{0}-2})} - \frac{e^{-t\mu_{n_{0}-2}}}{(\mu_{n_{0}} - \mu_{n_{0}-1})(\mu_{n_{0}} - \mu_{n_{0}-2})} \right]$$

$$+ \frac{e^{-t\mu_{n_{0}-1}}}{(\mu_{n_{0}-1} - \mu_{n_{0}})(\mu_{n_{0}-2} - \mu_{n_{0}-1})} + \frac{e^{-t\mu_{n_{0}-1}}}{(\mu_{n_{0}} - \mu_{n_{0}-1})(\mu_{n_{0}-2} - \mu_{n_{0}-1})} \right]$$

$$= \mu_{n_{0}}\mu_{n_{0}-1} \left[\frac{e^{-t\mu_{n_{0}-2}}}{(\mu_{n_{0}-1} - \mu_{n_{0}})(\mu_{n_{0}-2} - \mu_{n_{0}})} + \frac{e^{-t\mu_{n_{0}-1}}}{(\mu_{n_{0}-1} - \mu_{n_{0}-1})(\mu_{n_{0}-2} - \mu_{n_{0}-1})} \right].$$
(3.10)

Note that (3.6) for $k = n_0 - 2$ is equal to (3.10). The general case can obtained in a similar way but the details are omitted (see [17]).

3.2 The linear case

The special case of the linear death process is retrieved for $\mu_k = k\mu$, so the mortality rate is proportional to the current size of the population. By observing that

$$\prod_{h=k,h\neq m}^{n_0} (\mu_h - \mu_m) = (\mu_k - \mu_m) \dots (\mu_{m-1} - \mu_m) (\mu_{m+1} - \mu_m) \dots (\mu_{n_0} - \mu_m)$$

$$= (k - m)\mu \dots (-1)\mu \cdot 1 \cdot \mu \dots (n_0 - m)\mu$$

$$= (-1)^{m-k}\mu^{m-k}(m-k)!\mu^{n_0-m}(n_0 - m)!$$

$$= (-1)^{m-k}\mu^{n_0-k}(m-k)!(n_0 - m)!$$
(3.11)

and that

$$\prod_{h=k+1}^{n_0} \mu_h = \mu^{n_0-k} n_0 (n_0 - 1) \dots (n_0 - k - 1) \frac{h!}{k!} = \mu^{n_0-k} \frac{n_0!}{k!},$$
(3.12)

formula (3.6) entails that

$$p_{k}(t) = \frac{n_{0}!}{k!} \sum_{m=k}^{n_{0}} \frac{e^{-\mu mt}(-1)^{m-k}}{(m-k)!(n_{0}-m)!}$$

$$= \binom{n_{0}}{k} \sum_{m=k}^{n_{0}} \binom{n_{0}-k}{m-k} (-1)^{m-k} e^{-\mu mt}$$

$$= \binom{n_{0}}{k} \sum_{r=0}^{n_{0}-k} \binom{n_{0}-k}{r} (-1)^{r} e^{-\mu(k+r)t}$$

$$= \binom{n_{0}}{k} e^{-\mu kt} (1-e^{-\mu t})^{n_{0}-k}, \quad 0 \le k \le n_{0}$$
(3.13)





Figure 3.1: State probabilities $\{p_k(t), k \ge 1\}$ of a pure-death process (linear case) with initial population size $n_0 = 100$, after t = 1 time unit ($\mu = 0.1$). Binomial $(n_0, e^{-\mu t})$.

3.3 The sublinear case

As shown in [17], in this case the infinitesimal death probabilities have the form

$$\Pr\{\mathcal{M}(t, t+dt) = -1 \mid \mathcal{M}(t) = k\} = \mu(n_0 + 1 - k)dt + o(dt)$$
(3.14)

where the death rate does not depend on the the number k of survivors, but on the number $n_0 - (k-1)$ of deaths occurred in the time interval (0, t), so that for $k = n_0$ the probability (3.14) reduces to is $\mu dt + o(dt)$.

The difference-differential equations governing the survival probabilities $p_k(t)$ are

$$\frac{d}{dt}p_k(t) = -\mu(n_0 - k + 1)p_k(t) + \mu(n_0 - k)p_{k+1}(t)$$
(3.15)

subject to

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d}{dt}p_{n_0}(t) = -\mu p_{n_0}(t) \\ \frac{d}{dt}p_0(t) = \mu n_0 p_1(t) \end{cases}$$
(3.16)

and

$$p_k(0) = \begin{cases} 1 & k = n_0 \\ 0 & 0 \le k < n_0 \end{cases}$$
(3.17)

with solution given in [17]

$$p_k(t) = \sum_{h=0}^{n_0-k} \binom{n_0-k}{h} (-1)^h e^{-(h+1)\mu t} \quad 1 \le k \le n_0$$
(3.18)

and extinction probability

$$p_0(t) = \sum_{h=0}^{n_0} \binom{n_0}{h} (-1)^h e^{-h\mu t}.$$
(3.19)

Chapter 4

The birth-death process

4.1 The nonlinear case

We consider a process where birth and death are admitted so that the population $\mathcal{N}(t)$ can increase and decrease as time passes. We assume that

$$\begin{cases} \Pr\{(\mathcal{N}(t,t+dt) = 1 \mid \mathcal{N}(t) = k\} = \lambda_k dt + o(dt) \\ \Pr\{(\mathcal{N}(t,t+dt) = -1 \mid \mathcal{N}(t) = k\} = \mu_k dt + o(dt) \\ \Pr\{(\mathcal{N}(t,t+dt) = 0 \mid \mathcal{N}(t) = k\} = 1 - (\lambda_k + \mu_k) dt + o(dt) \end{cases}$$
(4.1)

where μ_k and λ_k are the death and birth rates. Furthermore we assume also that

$$\Pr\{\mathcal{N}(t, t+dt) = \pm k \mid \mathcal{N}(t) = k\} = o(dt), k \ge 2$$

$$(4.2)$$

i.e., we suppose that clusters of deaths and births occur with a negligible probability. The state probabilities

$$p_k(t) = \Pr\{\mathcal{N}(t) = k \mid \mathcal{N}(0) = 1\}, k \ge 0$$
(4.3)

solve the system of equations

$$\frac{dp_k(t)}{dt} = -(\lambda_k + \mu_k)p_k(t) + \lambda_{k-1}p_{k-1}(t) + \mu_{k+1}p_{k+1}(t), \qquad k \ge 0$$
(4.4)

under initial conditions

$$p_k(0) = \begin{cases} 1 & k = 1 & \text{(one initial progenitor)} \\ 0 & k \neq 1. \end{cases}$$
(4.5)

Equation (4.4) can be obtained in the following manner:

$$p_{k}(t+dt) = = p_{k}(t)(1-\lambda_{k}dt)(1-\mu_{k}dt) + p_{k-1}(t)\lambda_{k-1}dt(1-\mu_{k-1}dt) + p_{k+1}(t)(1-\lambda_{k+1}dt)\mu_{k+1}dt + p_{k}(t)\lambda_{k}dt\mu_{k}dt = p_{k}(t) - \lambda_{k}p_{k}(t)dt - \mu_{k}p_{k}(t)dt + p_{k-1}(t)\lambda_{k-1}dt + p_{k+1}(t)\mu_{k+1}dt$$

$$(4.6)$$

By expanding $p_k(t + dt)$, dividing both members by dt we get (4.4).

Remark 4.1. If the Poisson rates are constant, $\lambda_k = \lambda$, $\mu_k = \mu$, the birth-death process becomes the immigration-emigration process.

4.2 The linear case

In the linear case we obtain:

$$\frac{dp_k(t)}{dt} = -(\lambda + \mu)kp_k(t) + \lambda(k-1)p_{k-1}(t) + \mu(k+1)p_{k+1}(t),$$
(4.7)

The exact distribution (see [12]¹) $p_k(t) = \Pr{\mathcal{N}(t) = k}, k \ge 1$ is (cf. Fig. 4.1)

$$p_k(t) = (\lambda - \mu)^2 e^{-(\lambda - \mu)t} \frac{[\lambda(1 - e^{-(\lambda - \mu)t})]^{k-1}}{(\lambda - \mu e^{-(\lambda - \mu)t})^{k+1}}, k \ge 1, \mu \ne \lambda,$$
(4.8)

which for $\lambda = \mu$ simplifies into (cf. Fig. 4.3)

$$p_k(t) = \frac{(\lambda t)^{k-1}}{(1+\lambda t)^{k+1}}, k \ge 1$$
(4.9)

The extinction probabilities are

$$p_0(t) = \begin{cases} \frac{\mu t}{1+\mu t} & \lambda = \mu\\ \frac{\mu-\mu e^{-(\lambda-\mu)t}}{\lambda-\mu e^{-(\lambda-\mu)t}} & \lambda \neq \mu \end{cases}$$
(4.10)

The probability generating function $G(u,t) = \mathbb{E}[u^{\mathcal{N}(t)}]$ of $\mathcal{N}(t)$ satisfies in the linear case the partial differential equation

$$\frac{\partial G(u,t)}{\partial t} = \left[\lambda u^2 - (\lambda + \mu)u + \mu\right] \frac{\partial G(u,t)}{\partial u} = (\lambda u - \mu)(u-1)\frac{\partial G(u,t)}{\partial u}, \qquad |u| \le 1, t > 0 \quad (4.11)$$

with the initial condition G(u, 0) = u (with a single progenitor at time t = 0). The general form of the solution of equation (4.11) is

$$G(u,t) = f\left(e^{-(\lambda-\mu)t}\frac{\lambda u - \mu}{1-u}\right)$$
(4.12)

and this can be checked by substituting equation (4.12) into equation (4.11) and assuming that $f \in \mathbb{C}^1$. The argument of equation (4.12) is obtained by the method of auxiliary functions. By

 $^{^{1}}$ Cf. also Bailey (1964) [1].



Figure 4.1: Extinction probabilities $p_0(t)$ for (a) $\lambda = 1, \mu = 0.2$, (b) $\lambda = 0.5, \mu = 0.2$, (c) $\lambda = 0.25, \mu = 0.2$.



Figure 4.2: Distribution $\{p_k(t), k \ge 1\}$, for $\lambda = \mu = 0.75$; t = 1.

imposing the initial condition

$$G(u,0) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} u^k p_k(0) = u = f\left(\frac{\lambda u - \mu}{1 - u}\right)$$
(4.13)



Figure 4.3: Extinction probabilities $p_0(t)$, for $\lambda = 1$, $\lambda = 0.75$ and $\lambda = 0.5$.

we obtain that

$$f(u) = \frac{\mu + u}{\lambda + u} \tag{4.14}$$

because if we set $\frac{\lambda u - \mu}{1 - u} = v$, we readily arrive at (4.14). The p.g.f. for $\lambda \neq \mu$ is therefore

$$G(u,t) = \begin{cases} \frac{\mu + \frac{\lambda u - \mu}{1 - u} e^{-(\lambda - \mu)t}}{\lambda + \frac{\lambda u - \mu}{1 - u} e^{-(\lambda - \mu)t}} = \frac{\mu(1 - u) + (\lambda u - \mu)e^{-(\lambda - \mu)t}}{\lambda(1 - u) + (\lambda u - \mu)e^{-(\lambda - \mu)t}} & u > 0\\ p_0(t) = \frac{\mu - \mu e^{-(\lambda - \mu)t}}{\lambda - \mu e^{-(\lambda - \mu)t}}, & u = 0 \end{cases}$$
(4.15)

The limit of the extinction probability (4.15) for $\lambda \to \mu$ reads (cf. Fig. 4.2)

$$\lim_{\lambda \to \mu} \frac{\mu - \mu e^{-(\lambda - \mu)t}}{\lambda - \mu e^{-(\lambda - \mu)t}} = \frac{\mu t}{1 + \mu t}.$$
(4.16)

4.3 The extinction probability and the Riccati equation

The equation governing the extinction probability is

$$p_0(t) = \int_0^t e^{-\lambda s} \mu e^{-\mu s} ds + \int_0^t \lambda e^{-\lambda s} e^{-\mu s} p_0^2(t-s) ds.$$
(4.17)

Equation (4.17) is obtained by considering that

$$\int_0^t e^{-\lambda s} \mu e^{-\mu s} ds \tag{4.18}$$

represents the probability that in (0, s) the initial particle will survive up to time s with probability

 $e^{-\mu s}$ (and no offspring was born, with probability $e^{-\lambda s}$), and that it will die during [s, s + ds) with probability μds .

The second term of (4.17) considers that the initial progenitor with probability $e^{-\mu s}$ survives up to time s (and no birth is registered in (0, s) with probability $e^{-\lambda s}$), an additional offspring is generated in [s, s + ds) with probability λds and both components of the population will die during the remaining time [s, t], independently, with probability $p_0^2(t - s)$.

Hence, by deriving with respect to t, we obtain

$$p_0'(t) = \mu e^{-(\lambda+\mu)t} + \lambda e^{-(\lambda+\mu)t} p_0^2(0) + \lambda \int_0^t e^{-(\lambda+\mu)s} \frac{d}{dt} p_0^2(t-s) ds$$
(4.19)

Equation (4.19) is then simplified as follows:

$$p_{0}'(t) = \mu e^{-(\lambda+\mu)t} + \lambda e^{-(\lambda+\mu)t} p_{0}^{2}(0) - \lambda \int_{0}^{t} e^{-(\lambda+\mu)s} \frac{d}{ds} p_{0}^{2}(t-s) ds$$

$$= \mu e^{-(\lambda+\mu)t} - \lambda e^{-(\lambda+\mu)s} p_{0}^{2}(t-s)|_{s=0}^{s=t} - \lambda(\lambda+\mu) \int_{0}^{t} e^{-(\lambda+\mu)s} p_{0}^{2}(t-s) ds$$

$$= \mu e^{-(\lambda+\mu)t} + \lambda p_{0}^{2}(t) - (\lambda+\mu) \left[p_{0}(t) - \mu \int_{0}^{t} e^{-(\lambda+\mu)s} ds \right]$$

$$= -(\lambda+\mu)p_{0}(t) + \lambda p_{0}^{2}(t) + \mu e^{-(\lambda+\mu)t} + \left[-\mu e^{-(\lambda+\mu)s} \right]_{s=0}^{s=t}$$

$$= \mu - (\lambda+\mu)p_{0}(t) + \lambda p_{0}^{2}(t).$$
(4.20)

Hence the extinction probability $p_0(t)$, t > 0, satisfies the non-homogeneous Riccati equation

$$\frac{dp_0(t)}{dt} + (\lambda + \mu)p_0(t) = \lambda p_0^2(t) + \mu$$
(4.21)

An alternative derivation is the following.

By considering the process in the initial interval [0, ds) and writing

$$p_0(t) = \mu ds + (1 - \mu ds)(1 - \lambda ds)p_0(t - ds) + (1 - \mu ds)\lambda ds p_0^2(t - ds), \qquad (4.22)$$

we are supposing that

- 1. the process becomes extincted in the initial interval [0, ds) with probability μds ;
- 2. the process survives and does not generate an additional offspring in the initial interval ds, and gets extincted in the interval [ds, t) with probability

$$(1 - \mu ds)(1 - \lambda ds)p_0(t - ds);$$
 (4.23)

• 3. the process generates an additional component with probability λds and in the remaining time [ds, t) the two components (independently) disappear.

Neglecting infinitesimal of higher order we have that

$$\frac{p_0(t) - p_0(t - ds)}{ds} = \mu - (\lambda + \mu)p_0(t - ds) + \lambda p_0^2(t - ds)$$
(4.24)

and for $ds \to 0$ the Riccati equation emerges and is satisfied by the extinction probability (4.10) above.

Functions (4.15) and (4.16) are solutions of the Riccati equation of the next section. For $\lambda = \mu$ we have that

$$\frac{d}{dt}p_0(t) + 2\mu p_0(t) = \mu p_0^2(t) + \mu$$
(4.25)

is satisfied by (4.16).

Finally we observe that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} p_0(t) = \begin{cases} \frac{\mu}{\lambda}, & \lambda > \mu \\ 1, & \lambda = \mu \\ 1, & \lambda < \mu \end{cases}$$
(4.26)

according to intuition.

Note that he extinction is certain if $\lambda \leq \mu$ and it is still possible if $\lambda > \mu$.

Chapter 5

Fractional extensions of the Poisson process

5.1 The space-fractional Poisson process: standard case

It is well-known that the state probabilities of the homogeneous Poisson process satisfy the equations

$$\frac{dp_k(t)}{dt} = -\lambda p_k(t) + \lambda p_{k-1}(t) = -\lambda (I-B)p_k(t)$$
(5.1)

where $Ip_k = p_k$ and $Bp_k = p_{k-1}$ where B is the "shift" operator. The space-fractional Poisson process is defined by considering that the state probabilities (see [14]) satisfy

$$\frac{dp_k(t)}{dt} = -\{\lambda(I-B)\}^{\alpha} p_k(t), \quad 0 < \alpha < 1 \quad k \ge 0$$
(5.2)

so that we arrive at the so-called space-fractional Poisson process, denoted as $N^{\alpha}(t), t > 0$. Equation (5.2) can be rewritten by expanding the operator $(I - B)^{\alpha}$ in binomial series, because

$$(1-x)^{\alpha} = \sum_{h=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma(\alpha+1)}{h! \Gamma(\alpha+1-h)} (-x)^{h} 1^{\alpha-h}, \quad |x| < 1$$
(5.3)

so that

$$(I - B)^{\alpha} = \sum_{h=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma(\alpha + 1)}{h! \Gamma(\alpha + 1 - h)} (-B)^{h} I^{\alpha - h}$$
(5.4)

and, substituting in equation (5.2)

$$\frac{dp_k(t)}{dt} = -\lambda^{\alpha} \sum_{h=0}^k \frac{\Gamma(\alpha+1)}{h! \Gamma(\alpha+1-h)} (-1)^h p_{k-h}(t)$$
(5.5)

subject to the same initial conditions as in (5.1), that is

$$p_{-1}(t) = 0 \quad \forall t \quad \text{and} \quad p_k(0) = \begin{cases} 1 & k = 0 \\ 0 & k \ge 1 \end{cases}$$
 (5.6)

5.1.1 Properties of the space-fractional Poisson process

- (i) Note that $\frac{dp_k(t)}{dt}$ in (5.5) depends on all probabilities $p_{k-h}(t)$ with $0 \le h \le k$. This means that the jumps of the space-fractional Poisson process can be of any integer-valued size (cf. Fig. 5.1).
- (ii) For $\alpha = 1$ equation (5.5) reduces to equation (5.1).
- (iii) The distribution of jumps can be written as¹

$$\Pr\{N^{\alpha}(t, t+dt] = k\} = \begin{cases} \frac{(-1)^{k+1}\lambda^{\alpha}}{k!}\alpha(\alpha-1)\dots(\alpha-k+1)dt + o(dt) & k \ge 1\\ 1 - \lambda^{\alpha}dt + o(dt) & k = 0 \end{cases}$$
(5.7)

where $\alpha(\alpha-1)\ldots(\alpha-k+1)$ can be represented by the Pochhammer symbol $(\alpha)_k$; alternatively the distribution (5.7) can be rewritten as

$$\Pr\{N^{\alpha}(t,t+dt] = k\} = \frac{(-1)^{k+1}\lambda^{\alpha}\Gamma(\alpha+1)}{k!\Gamma(\alpha+1-k)}$$
$$= \begin{cases} dt\frac{\lambda^k}{k!}\int_0^{\infty} e^{-\lambda s}s^k\nu(ds) + o(dt) & k \ge 1\\ 1 - dt\int_0^{\infty}(1 - e^{-\lambda s})\nu(ds) + o(dt) & k = 0 \end{cases}$$
(5.8)

where $\nu(ds) = \frac{\alpha s^{-\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} ds$, s > 0 is the Lévy measure that is a measure on the half-line such that

$$\int_0^\infty (s \wedge 1) \,\nu(ds) < \infty \tag{5.9}$$

(iv) The probability generating function of $N^{\alpha}(t)$ satisfies the equation

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dG_{\alpha}(u,t)}{dt} = -\lambda^{\alpha}(1-u)^{\alpha}G(u,t) \\ G_{\alpha}(u,0) = 1 \end{cases}$$
(5.10)

so the p.g.f. is obtained by solving the (5.10):

$$G_{\alpha}(u,t) = e^{-t[\lambda(1-u)]^{\alpha}}$$
(5.11)

The p.g.f. (5.10) is itself a probability and can be written as:

$$G_{\alpha}(u,t) = e^{-t[\lambda(1-u)]^{\alpha}} = \Pr\left\{\min_{1 \le k \le N(t)} X_{k}^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} \ge 1 - u\right\} \quad 0 < u < 1$$
(5.12)

where the X_k 's are independent r.v.'s and have uniform distribution in [0, 1], N(t) is an homogeneous Poisson process of rate λ^{α} .

 $[\]frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda s} s^{k-\alpha-1} ds = 1, \text{ it holds that } \frac{\lambda^{k}}{k!} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda s} s^{k-\alpha-1} ds = 1, \text{ it holds that } \frac{\lambda^{k}}{k!} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda s} s^{k} \frac{\alpha s^{-\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} ds = \frac{\lambda^{k}}{k!} \frac{\alpha}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \frac{\Gamma(k-\alpha)}{\lambda^{k-\alpha}}.$ The last expression can be further manipulated as follows: $\frac{\lambda^{\alpha}}{k!} \frac{\alpha\Gamma(k-\alpha)}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} = \frac{\lambda^{\alpha}}{k!} \frac{\alpha\Gamma(k-\alpha)}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \cdot \frac{\Gamma(\alpha-1)\Gamma(1-\alpha)}{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(1-\alpha)} = \frac{\lambda^{\alpha}}{k!} \frac{\Gamma(\alpha+1)}{\Gamma(k-\alpha+1)} \cdot \frac{\sin(\pi\alpha)}{\sin(\pi(k-\alpha))} = \frac{(-1)^{k+1}}{k!} \frac{\lambda^{\alpha}\Gamma(\alpha+1)}{\Gamma(k-\alpha+1)}, \text{ where the Euler's "reflection formula" of the gamma function (i.e. i.e., for <math>0 < z < 1, \Gamma(z)\Gamma(1-z) = \frac{\pi}{\sin(\pi z)}$ has been applied twice and by the bisection formula $\sin(\pi(k-\alpha)) = \sin(k\pi)\cos(\pi\alpha) - \cos(k\pi)\sin(\pi\alpha) = (-1)^{k+1}\sin(\pi\alpha).$



Figure 5.1: Sample path for $\alpha < 1$ of a space-fractional Poisson process $N^{\alpha}(t)$.

(v) By the exponential function properties in (5.11) the space-fractional process has independent increments.

In fact

$$G_{\alpha}(u,t) = e^{-\lambda^{\alpha}(1-u)^{\alpha}t} = e^{-\lambda^{\alpha}(1-u)^{\alpha}[s+t-s]} = G_{\alpha}(u,s) \cdot G_{\alpha}(u,t-s).$$
(5.13)

(vi) From (5.11) the probability law of $N^{\alpha}(t)$ can be obtained as:

$$p_k^{\alpha}(t) = Pr\{N^{\alpha}(t) = k\} = \frac{(-1)^k}{k!} \sum_{r=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-\lambda^{\alpha}t)^r}{r!} \frac{\Gamma(\alpha r + 1)}{\Gamma(\alpha r + 1 - k)} \ge 0.$$
(5.14)

For $\alpha = 1$ immediately emerges that (5.14) is equal to the classic Poisson distribution. Note that:

$$p_{0}^{\alpha}(t) = e^{-\lambda^{\alpha}t}$$

$$p_{1}^{\alpha}(t) = \alpha\lambda^{\alpha}te^{-\lambda^{\alpha}t}$$

$$p_{2}^{\alpha}(t) = \frac{e^{-\lambda^{\alpha}t}}{2!} \left[(\alpha\lambda^{\alpha}t)^{2} + \alpha(1-\alpha)\lambda^{\alpha}t \right]$$

$$p_{3}^{\alpha}(t) = \frac{e^{-\lambda^{\alpha}t}}{3!} \left[(\alpha\lambda^{\alpha}t)^{3} + 3(\alpha\lambda^{\alpha}t)^{2}(1-\alpha) + \alpha(1-\alpha)(2-\alpha)\lambda^{\alpha}t \right]$$

$$p_{4}^{\alpha}(t) = \frac{e^{-\lambda^{\alpha}t}}{4!} \left[(\alpha\lambda^{\alpha}t)^{4} + 6(\alpha\lambda^{\alpha}t)^{3}(1-\alpha) + 6(\alpha\lambda^{\alpha}t)^{2}(1-\alpha)(2-\alpha)(3-\alpha)\lambda^{\alpha}t \right]$$
(5.15)

and in general:

$$p_k^{\alpha}(t) = \frac{e^{-\lambda^{\alpha}t}}{k!} \left[c_{k,k} t^k + c_{k-1,k} t^{k-1} + \dots + c_{2,k} t^2 + c_{1,k} t \right]$$
(5.16)

See [18] for expressions of the coefficients (cf. Fig. 5.2 and Fig. 5.3).



Figure 5.2: Space-fractional Poisson: The time evolution for $\alpha = 1$, $\alpha = 0.5$ and $\alpha = 0.25$ of the (survival) probability $p_0^{\alpha}(t)$, i.e. k = 0 ($\lambda = 0.5$).

(vii) Mean and variance diverge. In fact the first moment can be obtained from the first derivative of the p.g.f.

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial u} \mathbb{E} u^{N^{\alpha}(t)}|_{u=1} = \mathbb{E} N^{\alpha}(t) u^{N^{\alpha}(t)-1}|_{u=1} = \mathbb{E} N^{\alpha}(t),$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial u} G_{\alpha}(u,t)|_{u=1} = \frac{\partial}{\partial u} e^{-\lambda^{\alpha}(1-u)^{\alpha}t}|_{u=1}$$

$$G_{\alpha}(u,t) (\alpha \lambda^{\alpha} t (1-u)^{\alpha-1})|_{u=1} = \infty$$
(5.17)

being $\alpha < 1$.

The second moment can be obtained from the k-th factorial moment

$$\mu_{(k)}^X = \mathbb{E}[X(X-1)...(X-k+1)]$$
(5.18)

$$\mathbb{E}[X^2] = \mu_{(1)}^X + \mu_{(2)}^X \tag{5.19}$$

and the second moment diverges as well.



Figure 5.3: Space-fractional Poisson: The time evolution of the state probabilities $p_k^{\alpha}(t)$ for k = 1, k = 2 and k = 4, and $\alpha = 0.5$ ($\lambda = 0.5$) (cf. Fig. 5.2).

(viii) The space-fractional Poisson process is a time-changed Poisson process $N^{\alpha}(t)$:

$$N^{\alpha}(t) \stackrel{D}{\sim} N(S_{\alpha}(t)) \tag{5.20}$$

where $S_{\alpha}(t)$ is a stable subordinator of order $0 < \alpha < 1$, independent from N(t), that is a process with Laplace transform (see Appendix B)

$$\mathbb{E}\left[e^{-\gamma S_{\alpha}(t)}\right] = e^{-t\gamma^{\alpha}}$$
(5.21)

It is simple to check (5.20), having in mind (5.21), as follows

$$\mathbb{E}\left[u^{N(S^{\alpha}(t))}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[E\left(u^{N(S^{\alpha}(t))}\middle|S^{\alpha}(t)\right)\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[u^{S^{\alpha}(t)(1-u)}\right]$$

= $e^{-t[\lambda(1-u)]^{\alpha}} = \mathbb{E}\left[u^{N^{\alpha}(t)}\right] = G_{\alpha}(u,t) \quad \text{for } |u| \le 1$ (5.22)

(ix) Due to the possibility for the space-fractional Poisson process of multiple jumps over any interval dt, the probabilistic nature of waiting times is different from the exponential distribution characterising the homogeneous Poisson process. The first passage² time of level k is defined as:

²Note that, in the case of the space-fractional Poisson process, the first passage time, as defined by equation (5.23), differs from the concept of *hitting time*, defined as $\hat{T}_k^{(\alpha)} = \inf\{t \ge 0 : N^{(\alpha)}(t) = k\}$, for which $\Pr\{\hat{T}_k^{(\alpha)} < \infty\} < 1$ and there is a positive probability of missing any level k (due to multiple jumps), cf. [8].

$$T_k^{(\alpha)} = \inf\{t \ge 0 : N^{(\alpha)}(t) \ge k\}$$
(5.23)

The distribution of $T_k^{(\alpha)}$ is obtained in [18] as

$$\Pr\{T_k^{(\alpha)} \in ds\} = -\frac{d}{ds} \sum_{h=0}^{k-1} \frac{(-\lambda)^h}{h!} \frac{d^h}{d\lambda^h} e^{-s\lambda^{\alpha}}, \quad s > 0$$
(5.24)

where, for instance

$$\Pr\{T_k^{(\alpha)} \in ds\} = \begin{cases} \lambda^{\alpha} e^{-\lambda^{\alpha} s} ds & k = 1\\ \lambda^{\alpha} e^{\lambda^{\alpha} s} (1 - \alpha + \alpha \lambda^{\alpha} s) ds \dots & k = 2 \end{cases}$$
(5.25)

[18] also derives an iterative construction, i.e.

$$\Pr\{T_k^{(\alpha)} \in ds\} = \Pr\{T_{k-1}^{(\alpha)} \in ds\} - \frac{(-\lambda)^{k-1}}{(k-1)!} \frac{d}{ds} \{\frac{d^{k-1}}{d\lambda^{k-1}} e^{-\lambda^{\alpha} s}\} ds.$$
(5.26)

Remark 5.1. In motor vehicle insurance, a tentative interpretation of subordination to a random time can be car mileage, which can represent an operative measure for the "flow of time".

Remark 5.2. The space-fractional Skellam process is defined as

$$S(t) = N_1(S_{\alpha_1}(t)) - N_2(S_{\alpha_2}(t))$$

with S_{α_1} and S_{α_2} subordinators independent of $N_1(t)$ and $N_2(t)$. It can perform upward and downward jumps of arbitrary lengths. For its properties see [4].

5.2 Generalized space-fractional Poisson processes

If we start from equation

$$\frac{dp_k(t)}{dt} = -f\left(\lambda\left(I-B\right)\right)p_k(t) \tag{5.27}$$

which generalizes (5.1) and (5.2), we are able to construct a new class of point processes with independent increments.

The functions f appearing in (5.27) must belong to the class of Bernštein functions, which are $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^+)$, non negative and such that³

$$(-1)^k \frac{d^k}{dx^k} f(x) \le 0, \quad x > 0, k \ge 1$$
 (5.28)

Furthermore the Bernštein functions have the following integral representation

$$f(x) = a + bs + \int_0^\infty (1 - e^{-xs})\nu(ds)$$
(5.29)

³Note that f(x) is such that $f'(x) \sim \int_0^\infty e^{-xs} \nu(ds) > 0$ and $f''(x) \sim -\int_0^\infty e^{-xs} \nu(ds) < 0$.

where $\nu(ds)$ is the Lévy measure on $(0, +\infty)$ and such that

$$\int_0^{+\infty} (s \wedge 1)\nu(ds) < \infty \tag{5.30}$$

In our text we assume a = b = 0. For each Lévy measure we define a Bernštein function by means of (5.29).

Some particular Bernštein functions are

$$f(x) = x homogeneus Poisson$$

$$f(x) = x^{\alpha} standard space-fractional Poisson$$

$$f(x) = (x + \theta)^{\alpha} - \theta^{\alpha} tempered Poisson process$$

$$f(x) = \log (1 + x) negative binomial process$$
(5.31)

The function x^{α} is obtained by the Lévy measure

$$\nu(ds) = \frac{\alpha s^{-(\alpha+1)}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} ds, \quad 0 < \alpha < 1.$$
(5.32)

The function $(x + \theta)^{\alpha} - \theta^{\alpha}$ generates a process (tempered Poisson) with finite mean and variance (see [18]).

The process related to (5.27) is denoted by $N^{f}(t)$, with t > 0 and its probabilistic behaviour is governed by the following relationship

$$Pr\left\{N^{f}\left(t,t+dt\right]=k\right\}=\left\{\begin{array}{cc}dt\frac{\lambda^{k}}{k!}\int_{0}^{\infty}e^{-\lambda s}s^{k}\nu(ds)+o(dt) & k\geq 1\\ 1-dtf(\lambda) & k=0\end{array}\right.$$
(5.33)

The probability generating function of N^f reads

$$\mathbb{E}\left[u^{N^{f}(t)}\right] = e^{-tf(\lambda(1-u))}$$
(5.34)

and can be derived by considering that

$$\frac{\partial G^f}{\partial t}(u,t) = -f\left\{\lambda\left(I-B\right)\right\}G^f(u,t)$$

$$G^f(u,0) = 1$$
(5.35)

The relation with the homogeneous Poisson N(t) is given by

$$N^{f}(t) = N(H^{f}(t))$$
(5.36)

where $H^{f}(t)$ is a subordinator with Laplace transform

$$\mathbb{E}\left[e^{-\mu H^{f}(t)}\right] = e^{-tf(\mu)} = e^{-t\int_{0}^{\infty}(1-e^{-s\mu})}\nu(ds)$$
(5.37)

If $f(x) = x^{\alpha}$, with $0 < \alpha < 1$, then $H^{f}(t)$ is a stable subordinator and $N^{f}(t)$ is the standard space-fractional Poisson process dealt with above.

If $f(x) = (x+\theta)^{\alpha} - \theta^{\alpha}$, corresponding to the Lévy measure $\nu(ds) = \frac{\alpha s^{-\alpha-1}e^{-\theta s}}{\Gamma(1-s)}ds$ with $\theta > 0, 0 < \alpha < 1$ we have the Poisson process with tempered or relativistic stable distribution. Its probability law is

$$Pr\left\{N^{\alpha,\theta}(t) = m\right\} = \frac{(-1)^m}{m!} \frac{\lambda^m e^{\theta^\alpha t}}{(\theta+\lambda)^m} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-t(\lambda+\theta))^k}{k!} \frac{\Gamma(\alpha k+1)}{\Gamma(\alpha k+1-m)} \quad m \ge 0$$
(5.38)

If $\theta = 0$ then the (5.38) is equal to the standard case (5.14), while if $\theta = 0$ and $\alpha = 1$ (5.38) coincides with the distribution of the homogeneous Poisson process in (1.4).

Note that

$$\mathbb{E} \left[N^{\alpha,\theta}(t) \right] = \alpha \lambda \theta^{\alpha-1} t
\mathbb{V}ar \left[N^{\alpha,\theta}(t) \right] = \alpha \lambda \theta^{\alpha-2} (\lambda(1-\alpha) + \theta) t$$

$$Cov \left[N^{\alpha,\theta}(t), N^{\alpha,\theta}(s) \right] = \alpha \lambda \theta^{\alpha-2} (\lambda(1-\alpha) + \theta) (s \wedge t)$$
(5.39)

Remark 5.3. To show that $N^{1,0}(t) = N(t)$, substitute $\theta = 0$, $\alpha = 1$ in (130)

$$\begin{split} \lim_{\substack{\alpha \to 1 \\ \theta \to 0}} \Pr\{N^{\alpha,\theta}(t) = m\} &= \frac{(-1)^m}{m!} \frac{\lambda^m}{\lambda^m} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-\lambda t)^k}{k!} \frac{\Gamma(k+1)}{\Gamma(k+1-m)} \\ &= (-1)^m \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-\lambda t)^k}{k!} \frac{k!}{m!(k-m)!} = (-1)^m \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-\lambda t)^k}{m!(k-m)!} \quad for j = k-m \\ &= (-1)^m \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-\lambda t)^{j+m}}{m!j!} = \frac{(-1)^m (-\lambda t)^m}{m!} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-\lambda t)^j}{j!} \\ &= e^{-\lambda t} \frac{(\lambda t)^m}{m!}. \end{split}$$

If $f(x) = \log(1+x)$ and the related Lévy measure is $\nu(ds) = \frac{e^{-s}}{s} ds$ s > 0 we have a Poisson process $N^{\Gamma}(t)$, t > 0, with the Gamma-subordinator. Its probability generating function is

$$G^{\Gamma}(u,t) = e^{-t\log(1+\lambda(1-u))} = \frac{1}{\left[1+\lambda(1-u)\right]^t}$$
(5.40)

The Γ -Poisson process has the structure of a renewal process with intertime U possessing distribution

$$Pr\{U > t\} = G^{\Gamma}(0, t) = (1 + \lambda)^{-t}$$
(5.41)

The process $N^{\Gamma}(t) \stackrel{D}{\sim} N[H^{\Gamma}(t)]$ has Laplace transform

$$\mathbb{E}\left[e^{-\mu H^{f}(t)}\right] = \left(1+\mu\right)^{-t} \tag{5.42}$$

while the probability distribution of $N^{\Gamma}(t)$ reads

$$Pr\left\{N^{\Gamma}(t)=k\right\} = \frac{\lambda^{k}\Gamma(k+t)}{\Gamma(t)k!(\lambda+1)^{k+t}} \quad k \ge 0$$
(5.43)

and has the form of a negative binomial distribution, i.e.

$$Pr\left\{B^{i}=k\right\} = \frac{\Gamma(i+k)}{\Gamma(i)\Gamma(k+i)}p^{i}q^{k} = \binom{k+i-1}{k}p^{i}q^{k} \quad k \ge 0, i \ge 1.$$
(5.44)

With $p = (1 + \lambda)^{-1}$, $q = \lambda(1 + \lambda)^{-1}$ and i = t then equation (5.44) is equal to (5.43). The distributions of jumps in this case is

$$Pr\left\{N^{\Gamma}(t,t+dt]=k\right\} = \begin{cases} \left(\frac{\lambda}{\lambda+1}\right)^k \frac{1}{k} dt & k \ge 1\\ 1-\log(1+\lambda)dt & k=0 \end{cases}$$
(5.45)

which is a simil "logarithmic distribution". The main moments of $N^{\Gamma}(t)$ are

$$\mathbb{E} \left[N^{\Gamma}(t) \right] = \lambda t$$

$$\mathbb{V}ar \left[N^{\Gamma}(t) \right] = \lambda(\lambda + 1)t$$

$$Cov \left[N^{\Gamma}(s), N^{\Gamma}(t) \right] = \lambda(\lambda + 1)(s \wedge t).$$
(5.46)

Note that

$$Pr\left\{N^{\Gamma}(s) = r|N^{\Gamma}(t) = k\right\} = \binom{k}{r} \frac{B(s+r,t-s+k-r)}{B(s,t-s)} = E\left[\binom{k}{r}X^{r}(1-X)^{k-r}\right]$$
(5.47)

where X is a Beta random variable with parameters s and t - s, that is

$$Pr\left\{X \in dx\right\} = \frac{x^{s-1}(1-x)^{t-s-1}}{B(s,t-s)}dx, \quad 0 < x < 1$$
(5.48)

with $B(p,q) = \int_0^1 x^{p-1} (1-x)^{q-1} dx = \frac{\Gamma(p)\Gamma(q)}{\Gamma(p+q)} 4.$

5.3 Another fractional generalization of the Poisson process

A fractional Poisson process $\hat{N}_{\nu}(t)$ can be defined by the distribution (see [2])

$$Pr\left\{\hat{N}_{\nu}(t) = k\right\} = \frac{1}{E_{\nu,1}(\lambda t)} \frac{(\lambda t)^k}{\Gamma(\nu k + 1)}, \qquad k \ge 0$$
(5.49)

where

$$E_{\nu,\mu}(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{x^k}{\Gamma(\nu k + \mu)}$$
(5.50)

is the Mittag-Leffler function, with $\nu, \mu > 0$ The probability generating function of (5.49) is

$$G_{\nu}(u,t) = \mathbb{E}\left[u^{\hat{N}_{\nu}(t)}\right] = \frac{E_{\nu,1}(\lambda ut)}{E_{\nu,1}(\lambda t)} \qquad 0 \le u \le 1$$
(5.51)

which satisfies a order- ν fractional differential equation in u (see Appendix C):

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{\partial^{\nu} G_{\nu}(u,t)}{\partial u^{\nu}} = \lambda t G_{\nu}(u,t) & 0 < \nu < 1 \\
G_{\nu}(u,0) = 1
\end{cases}$$
(5.52)

 $^{^{4}}$ Note that the result generalizes the property of the Poisson process reported in equation (1.31).

The expected value of $\hat{N}_{\nu}(t)$ is, as can be ascertained using $\frac{d}{du}E_{\nu,1}(\lambda ut) = \frac{\lambda t}{\nu}E_{\nu,\nu}(\lambda ut)$,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\hat{N}_{\nu}(t)\right] = \frac{\lambda t}{\nu} \frac{E_{\nu,\nu}(\lambda t)}{E_{\nu,1}(\lambda t)}$$
(5.53)

while the variance is:

$$\mathbb{V}ar\left[\hat{N}_{\nu}(t)\right] = \frac{\lambda t}{\nu^{2}} \frac{E_{\nu,\nu-1}(\lambda t)}{E_{\nu,1}(\lambda t)} + \frac{\lambda t}{\nu^{2}} \frac{E_{\nu,\nu}(\lambda t)}{E_{\nu,1}(\lambda t)} \left\{1 - \lambda t \frac{E_{\nu,\nu}(\lambda t)}{E_{\nu,1}(\lambda t)}\right\}$$
(5.54)

For $\nu = 1$, $E_{1,1}(x) = e^x$ and $\hat{N}_1(t)$ is the simple Poisson process. For $\nu < 1$, $\hat{N}_{\nu}(t)$ has no longer independent increments.

Remark 5.4. This process can be viewed as a fractional version of the Poisson process, because the Mittag-Leffler function has a similar role as the exponential function e^x in the analysis of equations with fractional order derivatives.



Figure 5.4: Distribution $p_k(t), k \ge 1$ for $\lambda = 1$ and $\nu = 0.5$.

It is easy to show that for i.i.d. r.v.'s with d.f. $F(x)^5$:

$$Pr\left\{\max\left(X_{1},\ldots,X_{\hat{N}_{\nu}(t)}\right) < u\right\} = \frac{E_{\nu,1}(\lambda t F(u))}{E_{\nu,1}(\lambda t)}.$$
(5.55)

 $^{{}^{5}}$ Cf. the Gnedenko-Gumbel distribution in formula (1.72)

In fact

$$\Pr\{\max\{X_1, ..., X_{\hat{N}_{\nu}(t)}\} < u\}$$

$$= \mathbb{E}_{\hat{N}_{\nu}}[\Pr\{\max\{X_1, ..., X_{\hat{N}_{\nu}(t)}\} < u | \hat{N}_{\nu}(t)\}]$$

$$\mathbb{E}_{\hat{N}_{\nu}}[\Pr(X_1 < u)^{\hat{N}_{\nu}(t)}] = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \Pr(X_1 < u)^k \frac{(\lambda t)^k}{\Gamma(\nu k + 1)} \frac{1}{E_{\nu,1}(\lambda t)} = \frac{E_{\nu,1}(\lambda t F(u))}{E_{\nu,1}(\lambda t)}.$$
(5.56)

Moreover,

=

$$\Pr\{\min(X_1, ..., X_{\hat{N}_{\nu}(t)}) > u\} = \frac{E_{\nu,1}(\lambda t(1 - F(u)))}{E_{\nu,1}(\lambda t)}$$
(5.57)

The distribution of the waiting time of the first event T_1^{ν} is

k=0

$$\Pr\{\hat{T}_{1}^{\nu} > t\} = \Pr(\hat{N}_{\nu}(t) = 0) = \frac{1}{E_{\nu,1}(\lambda t)}.$$
(5.58)

Remark 5.5. The distribution (5.49) can be seen as a weighted transformation of the homogeneous Poisson process (see Fig. 5.4):

$$Pr\left\{\hat{N}_{\nu}(t) = k\right\} = \frac{Pr\{N(t) = k\}\frac{k!}{\Gamma(\nu k+1)}}{\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} Pr\{N(t) = j\}\frac{j!}{\Gamma(\nu j+1)}} \quad k \ge 0$$

5.4 The time-fractional Poisson process

In this case it is useful to start the analysis from the equation governing the state probabilities (see [2]) generalized by a (time)-fractional derivative

$$\frac{d^{\nu}p_k(t)}{dt^{\nu}} = -\lambda p_k(t) + \lambda p_{k-1}(t) \quad k \ge 0, p_{-1} = 0, 0 < \nu < 1$$
(5.59)

subject to the initial conditions

$$p_k(0) = \begin{cases} 1 & k = 0, \\ 0 & k \ge 1, \end{cases}$$
(5.60)

where

$$\frac{d^{\nu}p_k(t)}{dt^{\nu}} = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\nu)} \int_0^t \frac{dp_k(s)}{ds} \frac{1}{(t-s)^{\nu}} \, ds \tag{5.61}$$

is the fractional derivative in the sense of Dzerbayshan-Caputo. It can be shown (see [2]) that the distribution emerging from (5.59) has the form

$$p_k^{\nu}(t) = \frac{(\lambda t^{\nu})^k}{k!} \sum_{r=0}^{\infty} \frac{(r+k)!}{r!} \frac{(-\lambda t^{\nu})^r}{\Gamma(\nu(k+r)+1)}$$
$$= \sum_{r=k}^{\infty} (-1)^{r-k} {r \choose k} \frac{(\lambda t^{\nu})^r}{\Gamma(\nu r+1)} \quad k \ge 0$$
(5.62)

and the process can be called time-fractional Poisson process $N_{\nu}(t)$. For small values of k it is possible to write the distribution (5.62) in terms of Mittag-Leffler functions as follows

$$\begin{cases} p_0^{\nu}(t) = E_{\nu,1}(-\lambda t^{\nu}) \\ p_1^{\nu}(t) = \frac{\lambda t^{\nu}}{\nu} E_{\nu,\nu}(-\lambda t^{\nu}) \\ p_2^{\nu}(t) = \frac{(\lambda t^{\nu})^2}{2!\nu^2} \left[(1-\nu) E_{\nu,2\nu}(-\lambda t^{\nu}) + E_{\nu,2\nu-1}(-\lambda t^{\nu}) \right] \\ p_3^{\nu}(t) = \frac{(\lambda t^{\nu})^3}{3!\nu^3} \left[2(1-\nu) \left(\frac{1}{2}-\nu\right) E_{\nu,3\nu}(-\lambda t^{\nu}) + 3(1-\nu) E_{\nu,3\nu-1}(-\lambda t^{\nu}) + E_{\nu,3\nu-2}(-\lambda t^{\nu}) \right] \end{cases}$$

$$(5.63)$$

The probability generating function of the time fractional Poisson process $N_{\nu}(t)$ is

$$G_{N_{\nu}}(u) = E_{\nu,1} \left(\lambda(u-1)t^{\nu} \right) \tag{5.64}$$

From (5.64) we can extract the mean and the variance (cf. Fig. 5.5 and Fig 5.6)

$$\mathbb{E}\left[N_{\nu}(t)\right] = \frac{\lambda t^{\nu}}{\Gamma(\nu+1)} \\
\mathbb{V}ar\left[N_{\nu}(t)\right] = \frac{\lambda t^{\nu}}{\Gamma(\nu+1)} + \frac{(\lambda t^{\nu})^{2}}{\nu} \left\{\frac{1}{\Gamma(2\nu)} - \frac{1}{\nu\Gamma^{2}(\nu)}\right\}$$
(5.65)

Clearly, the time-fractional Poisson process is overdispersed⁶.



Figure 5.5: Comparison between expected values (w.r.t. time) of a time-fractional Poisson process of different parameters $\nu = \{1, 0.5, 0.25\}$ and $\lambda = 1$. Note: $\nu = 1$ corresponds to the standard Poisson process.

The time-fractional Poisson process is a renewal process with intertimes $U_j = \tau_j - \tau_{j-1}$ having the Mittag-Leffler distribution

$$Pr\{U_j > t\} = Pr\{T_1^{\nu} > t\} = Pr\{N_{\nu}(t) = 0\} = E_{\nu,1}(-\lambda t^{\nu}) = p_0^{\nu}(t)$$
(5.66)

 $\overline{\int_{0}^{6} \text{For } 0 < \nu < 1, \text{ the term } \Delta(\nu) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(2\nu)} - \frac{1}{\nu\Gamma^{2}(\nu)} > 0. \text{ In fact, by means of the Legendre duplication formula of the gamma function, i.e. } \Gamma(2z) = \frac{\Gamma(z)\Gamma(z+\frac{1}{2})}{2^{1-2z}\sqrt{\pi}}, \text{ one can easily check that } \Delta(\nu) > 0, 0 < \nu < 1.$



Figure 5.6: Comparison between variances (w.r.t. time) of a time-fractional Poisson process of different parameters $\nu = \{1, 0.5, 0.25\}$ ($\lambda = 1$). Note: $\nu = 1$ corresponds to the standard Poisson process.

One can notice (cf. Fig 5.7) how intertimes have longer durations than exponential, corresponding to "plateau" with no jumps, followed by clusters of (unit) jumps. Indeed the intertimes have infinite expectations.

The density of the random variables U_j is

$$Pr\{U_j \in dt\} = \lambda t^{\nu-1} E_{\nu,\nu}(-\lambda t^{\nu}) dt \quad t > 0, 0 < \nu < 1$$
(5.67)

and has Laplace transform

$$\int_0^\infty e^{-\mu t} \Pr\left\{U_j \in dt\right\} = \frac{\lambda}{\lambda + \mu^{\nu}}, \quad \mu > 0.$$
(5.68)

We are able to calculate:

1

$$Pr \{N_{\nu}(t) = k\} = Pr \{U_{1} + \ldots + U_{k} < t, U_{1} + \ldots + U_{k+1} > t\}$$

= $Pr \{U_{1} + \ldots + U_{k} < t\} - Pr \{U_{1} + \ldots + U_{k+1} < t\}$
= $Pr\{T_{k}^{(\nu)} < t\} - \Pr\{T_{k+1}^{(\nu)} < t\}$ (5.69)

and by means of Laplace transform:

$$\int_0^\infty e^{-\mu t} \Pr\{N_\nu(t) = k\} dt = \frac{\mu^{\nu-1} \lambda^k}{(\lambda + \mu^\nu)^{k+1}}$$
(5.70)

that is equal to the Laplace transform of the solution.

The time-fractional Poisson process can be represented as a Poisson process with a time change

obtained by the "inverse" of a Stable subordinator (see [15]). More precisely, it admits the following representation:

$$N_{\nu}(t) \stackrel{D}{=} N(L^{\nu}(t)), \qquad 0 < \nu \le 1, \qquad t \ge 0$$
(5.71)

where N is a homogeneous Poisson process and $L^{\nu}(t)$ is the inverse of a Stable subordinator $S^{\nu}(t)$, i.e.

$$Pr\{L^{\nu}(t) > s\} = Pr\{S^{\nu}(s) < t\}$$
(5.72)

For the hitting time of the time-fractional Poisson process

$$\tau_k^{(\nu)} = \inf(t > 0 : N_\nu(t) = k), \quad k \ge 1, \nu \in (0, 1]$$
(5.73)

[2] provide the expression

$$\Pr\{\tau_k^{(\nu)} \in ds\} = \lambda_\beta^k \sum_{h=0}^\infty \binom{-k}{h} \lambda_\beta^h \frac{s^{\nu(k+h)-1}}{\Gamma(\nu(k+h))} ds.$$
(5.74)

Remark 5.6. The time-fractional Skellam process The time-fractional Skellam process is expressed in terms of the difference of two time-fractional Poisson processes (see [4])

$$f_{Sk}(t) = N_1(L^{(1)}(t)) - N_2(L^{(2)}(t))$$

where $L^{(1)}(t)$ and $L^{(2)}(t)$ are two independent inverse stable subordinators of indexes ν_1 and ν_2 both in (0, 1).

5.5 The space-time fractional Poisson process

A space-time fractional Poisson process N_{ν}^{α} , $\alpha, \nu \in (0, 1)$, can be easily understood by means of subordination of an ordinary Poisson process to both a Stable and *then* its inverse Stable subordinator. As such, it can be represented as $N_{\nu}^{\alpha}(t) = N(S_{\alpha}(L_{\alpha}(t))), t \geq 0$, where $D_{\alpha}(t)$ is an independent α -Stable subordinator and $L_{\alpha}(t)$ is its inverse.

We refer to [14], where the process is defined as an extension to the space-fractional Poisson (see also [15]).

Quite naturally, on one side, the "space-fractional" dimension of the process involves the fractional "shift" operator $\Delta^{\alpha} = (1-B)^{\alpha}$ for its construction, as it appears in the (fractional) Cauchy problem for the state probabilities $p_k^{\alpha,\nu}(t), k \ge 0$, i.e.

$$\frac{d^{\nu}}{dt^{\nu}}p_{k}^{\alpha,\nu}(t) = -\lambda^{\alpha}(1-B)^{\alpha}p_{k}^{\alpha,\nu}(t)$$
(5.75)

where, on the other side, a (Caputo) time-fractional derivative operator takes into accounts the



Figure 5.7: Time-fractional Poisson: A sample trajectory for $\nu = 0.9$, $\nu = 0.5$ and $\nu = 0.25$. Note the "slow pace" of progress of the counts w.r.t. time.

time-fractional dimension, subject to the initial condition

$$p_k^{\alpha,\nu}(0) = \begin{cases} 0 & k \ge 1\\ 1 & k = 0 \end{cases}$$
(5.76)

The "time-fractional" and "space-fractional" dimensions appear more evident in state probabilities $p_k^{\alpha,\nu}(t) = \Pr\{N_{\nu}^{\alpha}(t) = k\}$, which are given as (see [14])

$$p_k^{\alpha,\nu}(t) = \frac{(-1)^k}{k!} \sum_{h=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-\lambda^{\alpha} t^{\nu})^h}{\Gamma(\nu h+1)} \frac{\Gamma(\alpha h+1)}{\Gamma(\alpha h+1-k)} \qquad k \ge 1, \alpha \in (0,1], \nu \in (0,1],$$
(5.77)

where state-probabilities appear as a "natural" integration of the respective specific structures. Indeed, setting $\alpha = 1$ and $\nu = 1$ the time-fractional and space-fractional Poisson processes are recovered, respectively. See also [3].

The probability generating function $G_{\alpha,\nu}(u)$ obtains as solution of

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d^{\nu}}{dt^{\nu}}G_{\alpha,\nu}(u,t) = -\lambda^{\alpha}(1-u)^{\alpha}G_{\alpha,\nu}(u,t) \\ G_{\alpha,\nu}(u,0) = 1 \end{cases}$$
(5.78)

that is

$$G_{\alpha,\nu}(u) = E_{\nu,1}(-\lambda^{\alpha}(1-u)^{\alpha}t^{\nu}) \qquad |u| \le 1$$
(5.79)

where the $E_{\nu,1}(x) = E_{\nu}(x)$ is indeed a one-parameter Mittag-Leffler function. The p.g.f. $G_{\alpha,\nu}(u)$ has a probabilistic interpretation with respect to the event $(\min_{1 \le k \le N_{\nu}(t)} U_k^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} \ge 0)$ (1-u), where the random variables U_k , $k \ge 1$, are i.i.d uniforms, and $N_{\nu}(t)$ is the time-fractional Poisson process, i.e.

$$G_{\alpha,\nu}(u) = \Pr\{\min_{1 \le k \le N_{\nu}(t)} U_k^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} \ge 1 - u\} \qquad |u| < 1.$$
(5.80)

Appendix A

Probability generating functions.

The probability generating function (p.g.f.) of a discrete non negative r.v. $X : \{k, p_k; k = 0, 1, 2, ...\}$ is defined as

$$G_X(u) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} p_k u^k \quad |u| \le 1$$
 for absolute convergence (A.1)

The name comes from the property

$$\frac{1}{k!} \frac{\partial^k G_X(u)}{\partial u^k}|_{u=0} = p_k \tag{A.2}$$

Consequently, if $G_X(u) = G_Y(u)$ then $p_X = p_Y$, i.e. if X and Y have the same p.g.f. then they have the same distribution.

Note that

$$G_X(1) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} p_k = 1 G_X^{(1)}(1) = \frac{\partial G_X(u)}{\partial u}_{|u=1} = \mathbb{E}[X]$$
(A.3)

The k-th factorial moment is

$$\mu_{(k)} \equiv \mathbb{E}[X(X-1)...(X-k+1)] = \mathbb{E}[\frac{X!}{(X-k)!}] = \frac{\partial^k}{\partial u^k} G_X(u)|_{u=1} = G_X^{(k)}(1)$$
(A.4)

Therefore, the variance is

$$\mathbb{V}ar[X] = \mathbb{E}[X(X-1)] + \mathbb{E}[X] - \mathbb{E}^2[X] = \mu_{(2)}^X + \mu_{(1)}^X - (\mu_{(1)}^X)^2 = G_X^{(2)}(1) + G_X^{(1)}(1) - (G_X^{(1)}(1))^2.$$
(A.5)

In general, the p.g.f. of a r.v. X is defined as

$$G_X(u) = \mathbb{E}[u^X] \quad |u| \le 1 \tag{A.6}$$

Given that the moment generating function (m.g.f.) is

$$M_X(\theta) \equiv \mathbb{E}[e^{\theta X}] \tag{A.7}$$

then

$$M_X(\theta) = G_X(e^{\theta}) \tag{A.8}$$

If X_i , i = 1, 2, ..., n, are *n* independent r.v.'s and $S_n = \sum_{i=1}^n a_i X_i$, a_i constants, then

$$G_{S_n}(u) = \mathbb{E}[u^{S_n}] = \mathbb{E}[u^{\sum_i a_i X_i}] = \mathbb{E}[u^{a_1 X_1} \dots u^{a_n X_n}] = \prod_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[u^{a_i X_i}] = \prod_{i=1}^n G_{X_i}(u^{a_i})$$
(A.9)

For the special case $S = X_1 - X_2$

$$G_S(u) = G_{X_1}(u)G_{X_2}(\frac{1}{u})$$
(A.10)

If N is a discrete r.v. independent of X_i and $S_N = \sum_{i=1}^N X_i$

$$G_{S_N}(u) = \mathbb{E}[u^{\sum_i X_i}] = \mathbb{E}_N[\mathbb{E}[u^{\sum_{i=1} X_i}|N]]$$
(A.11)

$$= \mathbb{E}_{N}[\prod_{i=1}^{N} \mathbb{E}[u^{X_{i}}]] = \mathbb{E}_{N}[\prod_{i=1}^{N} G_{X_{i}}(u)] = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} p_{n} \prod_{i=1}^{n} G_{X_{i}}(u)$$
(A.12)

and if the X_i are also identically distributed (i.i.d.) then

$$G_{S_N(u)} = \mathbb{E}_N[G_X(u)^N] = G_N(G_X(u)).$$
 (A.13)

Examples

 \bullet The p.g.f. of a constant c is

$$G_c(u) = u^c. (A.14)$$

• The p.g.f. of a Bernoulli r.v. X with parameter p is

$$G_X(u) = \mathbb{E}[u^X] = [pu^1 + (1-p)u^0] = [up + (1-p)];$$
(A.15)

• The p.g.f. of a Binomial r.v. $S_n = \sum_{i=1}^n X_i$ is

$$\mathbb{E}[u^{S_n}] = \mathbb{E}[\prod_{i=1}^n u^{X_i}] = \prod_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}[u^{X_i}] = \mathbb{E}[u^{X_1}]^n$$
(A.16)

respectively by independence and equi-distribution of the X_i so that finally

$$= [u^{1}p + (1-p)u^{0}]^{n} = [up + (1-p)]^{n}$$
(A.17)

where p is the parameter of the Bernoulli r.v. X_i .

• The p.g.f. of a $Poisson(\lambda)$ r.v. is

$$G_X(u) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda} \frac{\lambda^k}{k!} u^k = e^{\lambda(u-1)}.$$
 (A.18)

Appendix B

Stable random variables and stable subordinators.

B.1 Stable random variables

A random variable X is Stable iff $\forall a_1, a_2 \in \mathbb{R}^+$ and $\forall X_1, X_2, X$, i.i.d., $\exists b > 0$ and $c \in \mathbb{R}$ such that:

$$a_1 X_1 + a_2 X_2 \stackrel{\mathrm{D}}{\sim} b X + c \tag{B.1}$$

If X is Stable, $\exists \alpha \in (0, 2]$ called stability index, such that:

$$a_1^{\alpha} + a_2^{\alpha} = b^{\alpha}.\tag{B.2}$$

We write X is α -Stable.

The c.f. of an α -Stable r.v. X is the following:

$$\mathbb{E}(e^{i\theta X}) = \begin{cases} e^{-\sigma^{\alpha}|\theta|^{\alpha}(1-i\beta\theta\tan\frac{\alpha\pi}{2})+i\mu\theta} & \alpha \neq 1\\ e^{-\sigma|\theta|(1+i\beta\frac{2}{\pi}\theta\ln|\theta|)+i\mu\theta} & \alpha = 1 \end{cases}$$
(B.3)

with $\sigma > 0, \ \beta \in [-1, 1], \ \mu \in \mathbb{R}$. We write also $X \sim S_{\alpha}(\sigma, \beta, \mu)$. If X > 0 we have also the Laplace transform

$$\mathbb{E}(e^{-\gamma X}) = \begin{cases} \exp\{-\frac{\sigma^{\alpha} \gamma^{\alpha}}{\cos\{\frac{\alpha \pi}{2}\}}\} & \alpha \neq 1\\ \exp\{-\sigma \frac{2}{\pi} \ln \gamma\} & \alpha = 1 \end{cases}$$
(B.4)

Example. Let $X \sim N(\mu, \sigma^2)$, then $\alpha = 2$ and

$$b = \sqrt{a_1^2 + a_2^2},\tag{B.5}$$

$$c = (a_1 + a_2 - b)\mu. (B.6)$$

B.2 Stable subordinators

The general idea of subordination refers to a process which evolves in an "operative" (as opposed to natural) random time.

- A subordinator is an (a.s.) non-decreasing right-continuous process with stationary, i.i.d. increments (a case of Levy process). A Stable subordinator is an α -Stable process $S_{\alpha}(t)$; an inverse Stable subordinator L(x) represents the first passage time of a Stable subordinator S_{α} for a level x, i.e. $L(x) = \inf\{t: S_{\alpha}(t) \ge x\}, x > 0$. The following results hold.
- α -Stable subordinators $S_{\alpha}(t)$, $0 < \alpha < 1$, are characterized by Laplace transform of the form

$$\mathbb{E}[e^{-\theta S_{\alpha}(t)}] = e^{-\theta^{\alpha}t} \qquad \theta > 0, t > 0 \tag{B.7}$$

• α -Stable subordinators, $0 < \alpha < 1$, scale in time according to a power-law with exponent greater than unity, i.e.

$$S_{\alpha}(ct) \sim c^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} S_{\alpha}(t), \qquad c > 0 \tag{B.8}$$

Inverse α -Stable subordinators, $0 < \alpha < 1$, scale in time according to a power-law with exponent smaller than unity, i.e.

$$S_{\alpha}(ct) \stackrel{d}{\sim} c^{\alpha} S_{\alpha}(t), \qquad c > 0 \tag{B.9}$$

The density function of an α -Stable subordinator is given by

$$h_{\alpha}(x,t) = \alpha t x^{-(\alpha+1)} W_{\alpha}(t x^{-\alpha}) \qquad x > 0$$
(B.10)

while the density function of its inverse α -Stable subordinator is given by

$$l_{\alpha}(t,x) = t^{-\alpha} W_{\alpha}(t^{-\alpha}x) \qquad x > 0 \tag{B.11}$$

where $W_{\alpha}(x)$ is the Wright function

$$W_{\alpha}(x) \equiv W_{-\alpha,1-\alpha}(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-x)^k}{k!\Gamma(-\alpha k + (1-\alpha))}.$$
 (B.12)

The two densities are related as

$$l_{\alpha}(t,x) = -\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \int_{0}^{x} h_{\alpha}(y,t) dy$$
(B.13)

Closed form densities arise for $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}$, in which case

$$h_{\frac{1}{2}}(x,t) = \frac{t}{\sqrt{4\pi x^3}} e^{-\frac{t^2}{4x}}$$
(B.14)

which corresponds to the first passage time distribution (Inverse Gaussian) of a standard Brownian motion through the *level* $\frac{t}{\sqrt{2}}$ (or, equivalently, of a Brownian motion with variance $\sqrt{2}$ through a level t), and

$$l_{\frac{1}{2}}(t,x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi x}} e^{-\frac{t^2}{4x}}$$
(B.15)

which corresponds to the probability distribution of the maximum of a Brownian motion over a *time* interval (0, x).

Appendix C

Fractional derivatives.

The Riemann-Liouville fractional integral of order α is defined as

$$(I^{\alpha}f)(x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^x (x-y)^{\alpha-1} f(y) dy, \quad \alpha > 1$$
(C.1)

The fractional derivative of order α of a (well behaved) function is the ordinary *m*-th derivative D^m of a fractional Riemann-Liouville integral of order $m - \alpha$, i.e.

$$(D^{\alpha}f)(x) = [D^{m}(I^{m-\alpha}f)](x), \text{ for } m-1 < \alpha < m, \alpha > -1$$
 (C.2)

In fact the Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative of a function f(x) is defined explicitly as

$$(D^{\alpha}f)(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\Gamma(m-\alpha)} \frac{d^m}{dx^m} \int_0^x \frac{f(y)}{(x-y)^{\alpha+1-m}} dy & m-1 < \alpha < m \\ \frac{d^m}{dx^m} f(x) & \alpha = m \end{cases}$$
(C.3)

Note that the fractional integral is an extension of the Cauchy formula:

$$\int_0^x dx_1 \int_0^{x_1} dx_2 \dots \int_0^{x_{n-1}} f(x_n) dx_n = \frac{1}{(n-1)!} \int_0^x f(x_n) (x-x_n)^{n-1} dx_n.$$
(C.4)

and the *m*-th (ordinary) derivative of a power function x^n is

$$D^{m}x^{n} = \frac{d^{m}x^{n}}{dx^{m}} = n(n-1)(n-m+1)x^{n-m} = \frac{n!}{(n-m)!}x^{n-m} = \frac{\Gamma(n+1)}{\Gamma(n-m+1)}x^{n-m}, \quad m \le n.$$
(C.5)

By analogy the fractional α -th derivative can be obtained directly as

$$\frac{d^{\alpha}}{dx^{\alpha}}x^{n} = \frac{\Gamma(n+1)}{\Gamma(n-\alpha+1)}x^{n-\alpha}, \alpha \le n.$$
(C.6)

For example the derivative of half order (i.e., $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}$) for n = 1 gives

$$\frac{d^{\frac{1}{2}}}{dx^{\frac{1}{2}}}x = \frac{\Gamma(2)}{\Gamma(\frac{3}{2})}x^{\frac{1}{2}} = \frac{x^{\frac{1}{2}}}{\Gamma(\frac{3}{2})} = \frac{1}{\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\pi}}x^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(C.7)

The Dzherbashyan-Caputo fractional derivative is defined as

$$(D_c^{\alpha}f)(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\Gamma(m-\alpha)} \int_0^x \frac{\frac{d^m}{dy^m} f(y)}{(x-y)^{\alpha+1-m}} dy & m-1 < \alpha < m \\ \frac{d^m}{dx^m} f(x) & \alpha = m \end{cases}$$
(C.8)

References

[1] Bailey, The Elements of Stochastic Processes with Applications to the Natural Sciences, *New York Wiley*, 1964.

[2] Beghin L., Orsingher E., Fractional Poisson Processes and Related Planar Random Motions, *Electronic Journal of Probability*, 14(61):1790-1826, 2009, (Google Scholar).

[3] Buchak K., Sakhno L., Composition of Poisson and Gamma processes, Modern Stochastics: Theory and Applications, 4(2):161-188, 2017.

[4] Buchak K., Sakhno L., On the governing equations for Poisson and Skellam processes timechanged by inverse subordinators, *Theory of Probability and Mathematical Statistics*, 98:91-104, 2019.

[5] Charalambides C., On discrete distributions of order k, Annals Inst. Stat. Math., 1986.

[6] Cinque F., Orsingher E., On the distribution of the maximum of the telegraph process, *Theor. Probability and Math. Statist.*, 73:95-102, 2020, (Google Scholar).

[7] Cinque F., Orsingher E., On the exact distributions of the maximum of the asymmetric Telegraph process, *Stochastic Processes and their Applications*, Vol. 142, 601-633, 2021, (Google Scholar).

[8] Garra R., Orsingher E., Scavino M., Some probabilistic properties of fractional point processes, *Stochastic Analysis and Applications*, 35(4):701-718, 2017, (Google Scholar).

[9] Kataria K., Khandakar M., Time-changed space-time fractional Poisson process, *Stochastic Analysis and Applications*, 2021.

[10] Kostadinova K., Minkova L., On the Poisson process of order k, *Pliska Studia Mathematica Bulgarika*, 2013.

[11] Maheshwari A., Orsingher E., Superposition of time-changed Poisson processes and their hitting times, 2019, (Google Scholar).

[12] Orsingher E., Polito F., On the fractional linear birth-death process, *Bernoulli*, 17(1):114-137, 2011, (Google Scholar).

[13] Orsingher E., Polito F., Compositions, Random Sums and Continued Random Fractions of Poisson and Fractional Poisson Processes, *Journal of Statistical Physics*, 148(2):233-249, 2012, (Google Scholar).

[14] Orsingher E., Polito F., The space fractional Poisson processes, *Statistics and Probability Letters*, 82(4):852-858, 2012, (Google Scholar).

[15] Orsingher E., Polito F., On the integral of fractional Poisson processes, *Statistics and Probability Letters*, 83(4):1006-1017, 2013, (Google Scholar).

[16] Orsingher E., Polito F., Fractional pure-birth processes, *Bernoulli*, 16(3):858-881, 2010, (Google Scholar).

[17] Orsingher E., Polito F., Sakhno L., Fractional Nonlinear, Linear and Sublinear Death Processes, *Journal of Statistical Physics*, 141(1):68-93, 2010, (Google Scholar).

[18] Orsingher E., B. Toaldo B., Counting processes with Bernstein intensities and random jumps, J. of Applied Probability, 52(4):1028-1044, 2015, (Google Scholar).

[19] Philippou A., Poisson and compound Poisson distributions of order k and some of their properties, *J. Soviet Maths*, 1984.

[20] Rang G., Shen Z., Zuo H., Hitting probabilities of weighted Poisson processes with different intensities and their subordinations, *Acta Mathematica Scientia*, 41B(1), 67-84, 2021.
WORKING PAPERS PUBLISHED

- N. 1. <u>II Ramo r.c. auto: raffronto tra l'Italia e alcuni paesi della UE su premi, sinistri e sistemi</u> risarcitori del danno alla persona, di Lino Matarazzo (ottobre 2014).
- N. 2. <u>La riforma della CARD: costi dei sinistri e incentivi all'efficienza nel risarcimento diretto</u> <u>r.c. auto</u>, di Riccardo Cesari, Marina Mieli e Arturo Valerio (maggio 2015).
- N. 3. <u>Dal chain ladder al modello di Merz e Wüthrich: derivazione completa del modello di volatilità della riserva sinistri in orizzonte annuale</u>, di Stefano Cavastracci (giugno 2015).
- N. 4. <u>Redditività e ciclo del settore assicurativo italiano prima e durante la crisi</u>, di Fabio Farabullini (novembre 2015).
- N. 5. <u>Seminari per i dieci anni del codice delle assicurazioni private</u>, di Riccardo Cesari (Prefatore), Enrico Galanti (Coordinatore), Sandro Amorosino, Roberto Caponigro, Stefania Ceci, Luigi Farenga, Antonio Longo, Francesco Mauro, Gustavo Olivieri, Andrea Pezzoli, Salvatore Providenti, Umberto Santosuosso, Dario Zamboni (maggio 2016).
- N. 6. Il diritto nella società contemporanea, di Ottavio De Bertolis (novembre 2016).
- N. 7. Duration, convexity and the optimal management of bond portfolios for insurance companies, di Riccardo Cesari e Vieri Mosco (febbraio 2017).
- N. 8. <u>Il nuovo Regolamento IVASS sull'accesso agli atti La distribuzione Assicurativa Il gruppo dopo Solvency II</u>, di E. Galanti, M. Binda, M. L. Cavina, M. Fodale, N. Gentile, R. Giay, P. Marano, P. Mariano, S. Marzucchi, A. Police, A. Serino, V. Troiano (Aprile 2017).
- N. 9. <u>Modello overdispersed Poisson: formula chiusa per la stima GLM della volatilità one</u> <u>year della riserva sinistri</u>, di Stefano Cavastracci e Agostino Tripodi (giugno 2017).
- N. 10. <u>No news is good news: moral hazard in oligopolistic insurance markets</u>, di Marco Cosconati (18 aprile 2018).
- N. 11. <u>Riforma del sistema europeo delle Autorità di controllo. Governance imprese assicurative. Gestione crisi nel settore bancario e assicurativo</u>, di S. Butera, F. Buzzichelli, R. Cercone, A. Corinti, S. De Polis, C. Di Noia, S. Fortunato, E. Galanti, F. Montemaggiori, M. Morvillo, M. O. Perassi, P. Rosatone, V. Santoro, S. Scarcello, E. Serata, M. Siri (maggio 2018).
- N. 12. <u>Valore aggiunto e profittabilità delle compagnie italiane: cosa conta realmente?</u>, di Leandro D'Aurizio (marzo 2019)
- N. 13. <u>Calamità naturali e coperture assicurative: valutazione dei rischi e policy options per il</u> <u>caso italiano</u>, di Riccardo Cesari e Leandro D'Aurizio (luglio 2019)

- N. 14. <u>Defiscalizzare la r.c. auto: come e perché</u>, di Riccardo Cesari e Antonio R. De Pascalis (ottobre 2019)
- N. 15. Two simple models of insurance fraud, di Riccardo Cesari (gennaio 2021)
- N. 16. La governance dell'Artificial Intelligence nel settore assicurativo tra principi etici, responsabilità del board e cultura aziendale, di Diana Capone (febbraio 2021)
- N. 17. <u>The effect of uncertainty on the car insurance market: evidence from the COVID-19</u> <u>shock</u>, di Marco Cosconati e Viviana Medori (agosto 2021)
- N. 18. <u>Le relazioni tra banche e assicurazioni in Italia</u>, di Federico Apicella, Leandro D'Aurizio, Raffaele Gallo, Giovanni Guazzarotti (settembre 2021)
- N. 19. Test di Benford sulla qualità dei dati, di Riccardo Cesari (ottobre 2021)
- N. 20. <u>Proposta di una tabella unica nazionale per il risarcimento del danno non patrimoniale</u> <u>per lesioni di non lieve entità</u>, di Riccardo Cesari, Alessandro Costantini, Antonio Rosario De Pascalis, Elio Di Jeso, Marco Leotta (novembre 2021)
- N. 21. <u>Le competenze assicurative e finanziarie degli italiani a confronto</u>, di Riccardo Cesari e Leandro D'Aurizio (dicembre 2021)
- N. 22. <u>Donne, board e imprese di assicurazione</u>, di Diana Capone, Flaminia Montemaggiori e Sara Butera (gennaio 2022)

